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mobilezone increases sales  
and net profit 

Report to shareholders

Dear Shareholders

mobilezone did well in fiscal year 2018 in a challenging market environment, and in a difficult 
market with increased competition the company succeeded in growing its operating profit (EBIT) 
for the seventh consecutive time. Net profit was increased to CHF 39.5 million and is in line with 
expectations.

The Board of Directors will propose to the General Meeting on April 4, 2019, a dividend distribu-
tion, free of withholding tax, in the amount of CHF 0.60 per share (2018: CHF 0.60) from the re-
serves from capital contributions.

mobilezone increases net profit to CHF 39.5 million
In fiscal year 2018 mobilezone achieved record sales in the amount of CHF 1,196 million, an incre-
ase of 2.0 percent over the previous year’s figure. After adjustments for currency effects, sales 
were 5,5 percent higher than in the previous year.

The EBIT of CHF 52.5 million (2017: CHF 50.1 million) does not fully meet the previously an-
nounced expectations of CHF 55 million – CHF 60 million.

The company succeeded in increasing its net profit by 12.2 percent to CHF 39.5 million  
(2017: CHF 35.2 million). After adjustments for currency effects, net profit was 13,7 percent higher 
than in the previous year. Financial expenses (net) decreased by CHF 0.3 million to CHF 2.0 million. 
The company’s tax expense amounted to CHF 11.0 million and fell by CHF 1.6 million compared 
to the previous year’s figure; the previous year’s result included a one-time tax liability of CHF 1.4 
million.

In the reporting year earnings per share amounted to CHF 1.02 (2017: CHF 1.10). As of March 4, 
2019, the mobilezone share price was CHF 10.92 as compared to CHF 12.85 at the end of Decem-
ber 2017.

As of December 31, 2018, mobilezone‘s balance sheet shows cash and cash equivalents totaling 
CHF 92.4 million (2017: CHF 87.9 million). The company’s net debt amounted to CHF 76.2 million 
(2017: CHF 70.2 million). The ratio of net debt to EBITDA was 1.31 (2017: 1.25).

At the end of the year, net current assets amounted to CHF 150.2 million (2017: CHF 11.3 million). 
In the mobilezone holding ag individual financial statements, shareholders’ equity amounts to 
CHF 136.5 million (2017: CHF 53.7 million).

Successful integration of TPHCom 
The integration of TPHCom has been completed and went well. TPHCom’s performance in fiscal 
year 2018 is slightly above the previously announced expectations.

Segment Trade reports slight increase in sales and profitability
The segment Trade includes activities in the company’s branch network extending throughout 
Switzerland, in the online business, and in the B2B sector as well as the activities in Germany.

The segment Trade achieved an increase in sales of CHF 1,079 million to CHF 1,099 million, an 
increase of 1.8 percent. The share of wholesale sales amounts to CHF 537 million (2017: CHF 687 
million). The drop in wholesale sales of CHF 150 million is balanced against TPHCom’s first-time 
sales of CHF 203 million.  



3

The EBIT was increased from 37.0 million to CHF 43.3 million. The wholesale margins were  
4.3 percent compared to 3.8 percent in the previous year.  

As expected, competition in the online business in Germany increased again. Market share was 
increased slightly at the expense of the margin on each contract. In Germany more than 245,000 
(2017: 220,000) mobile phone contracts were concluded online.  

Since mid-September, after a hiatus of about two years, mobilezone once again offers all Salt 
products to its customers in Switzerland.

The further development of the retail business in Switzerland is the company’s top priority. Com-
pared to the previous year, the mobilezone shops saw increased customer traffic and greater re-
venues from sales. The turnover from services (data transfer, setting up smartphones, guarantee 
extensions and other services) in the shops more than doubled, at CHF 3.1 million (previous year: 
CHF 1.4 million).

mobilezone continuously reviews the number and location of its shops. The number of shops in 
Switzerland has been slightly reduced in the reporting year, while other shops in preferred loca-
tions have been remodeled in accordance with a uniform modern concept (shop layout and de-
sign). The company continues to weigh selectively opening new shops at strategically important 
locations. As of the end of December, mobilezone operated 119 shops in Switzerland. This corres-
ponds to a reduction by 5 shops compared to the previous year.

Urs T. Fischer Markus Bernhard
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Segment Service Providing reports increased sales and decline in profitability
The segment Service Providing includes the company’s own TalkTalk mobile and fixed-line offers 
as well as the service and repair business in Switzerland and Austria. Sales in the segment Service 
Providing grew from CHF 92.2 million to CHF 96.3 million, an increase of 4.6 percent. With EBIT 
amounting to CHF 8.4 million (2017: CHF 12.1 million) the result achieved is in line with expecta-
tions. Both TalkTalk’s and mobiletouch’s EBIT came in below the previous year’s figures.

In its customer acquisition efforts with TalkTalk products, mobilezone focused on mobile offers, in 
particular regarding postpaid customers. Mobile customers’ share in TalkTalk’s total sales amounts 
to 56.9 percent (2017: 50.7 percent). In the postpaid area, the number of customers grew to 25,200 
(2017: 24,200).

Omnichannel platform
In early February 2019 mobilezone successfully introduced its Omnichannel strategy in Switzer-
land in all its 119 shops as well as online. With the introduction of a new ERP system and a new cash 
register system mobilezone successfully implemented the first stage of its Omnichannel project. 
The new systems serve as essential basis for offering customers an integral shopping experience 
by using and networking all available online and offline sales channels. In the second stage of the 
project, mobilezone will launch a newly developed online shop in the coming weeks. 

Capital increase in March 2018 to finance TPHCom acquisition
The capital increase of 8,585,516 shares decided by the extraordinary General Meeting on March 
9, 2018, was concluded at the end of March 2018. As a result, there are now 40,781,213 registered 
shares outstanding. The resulting inflow of net CHF 79.0 million was used to finance the acquisition 
of TPHCom in the amount of EUR 50 million and to give the Group greater financial flexibility for 
additional company acquisitions in the medium term.

Dividend proposal to the General Meeting 
A dividend, free of withholding tax, of CHF 0.60 per registered share from the reserves from ca-
pital contributions will be proposed to the General Meeting on April 4, 2019; this corresponds to 
a distribution ratio of 61.9 percent. If this proposal is approved, the dividend will be paid out on 
April 11, 2019. Starting on April 9, 2019, the shares will be traded ex-dividend.

Murat Ayhan to be deputy CEO
The Board of Directors has appointed Murat Ayhan (1977, German), a member of the Group ma-
nagement and Managing Director of einsAmobile, as deputy CEO of mobilezone Group.

Report to shareholders
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Change in the Board of Directors
Andreas M. Blaser has decided not to stand for re-election at the upcoming general meeting and 
to concentrate on his other advisory and mandate activities instead. He has made a significant 
contribution towards renewing the whole IT platform in Switzerland in recent years. We would like 
to thank Andreas M. Blaser for his valuable commitment to the company. At the General Meeting 
on April 4, 2019, the Board of Directors will propose Peter K. Neuenschwander as a new member 
of the Board of Directors. Peter K. Neuenschwander is a partner of the law firm Suffert Neuen-
schwander & Partner. He will strengthen the Board of Directors in legal and Corporate Gover-
nance issues.

Outlook
mobilezone achieved a positive result in fiscal year 2018 in a highly competitive environment. The 
competition and the fight for market share, particularly in Germany, will not abate in the current 
fiscal year. This intense competition will probably lead to the margins remaining under continued 
pressure, especially in the online business in Germany. The company aims at further expanding 
its geographic presence in Germany, specifically by way of increasing the number of its sales 
partners. 

For fiscal year 2019 mobilezone expects operating profit (EBIT) in the range of CHF 50 – 55 million. 
The company plans to continue its present attractive dividend policy and to disburse up to  
75 percent of the net profit. 

We particularly wish to thank our employees; with their dedicated work day after day they have 
made a successful fiscal year possible. We want to take this opportunity to thank them sincerely 
for their dedication, loyalty, and confidence in our company. 

Rotkreuz, March 4, 2019

 

Urs T. Fischer Markus Bernhard 
Chairman of the Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer
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1  Distribution free of withholding tax from the reserves from capital contributions in accordance with the Board of Directors‘  
proposal to the General Meeting on April 4, 2019.
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1 In percent of net sales.    
2 In percent of total assets.

Key figures

Group

(CHF 000 or as indicated) 2018 % 2017 % 2016 % 2015 % 2014 %

Net sales 1 195 599 1 171 578 1 087 855 859 020 388 562

Gross profit 156 838 13.11 149 826 12.81 143 966 13.21 133 608 15.61 117 057 30.11

Operating profit (EBITDA) 58 296 4.91 55 954 4.81 54 255 5.01 47 388 5.51 37 171 9.61

Operating profit (EBIT) 52 535 4.41 50 123 4.31 48 471 4.51 40 434 4.71 29 197 7.51

Net profit 39 531 3.31 35 226 3.01 36 147 3.31 30 821 3.61 23 642 6.11

Total assets 367 070 302 640 192 887 162 368 100 048

Net debt –76 161 –70 200 –66 152 –65 268 –10 992

Shareholders’ equity 34 382 9.42 8 977 3.02 –3 294 –1.72 –12 142 –7.52 32 110 32.12

Net debt-to-EBITDA ratio 1.31 1.25 1.22 1.38 0.30

Net cash flow from operating activities  
before change in net assets and taxes

58 254 56 044 54 475 47 746 36 959

Investments in property, plant &
equipment and intangible assets

10 420 10 947 9 809 6 460 6 963

Number of full-time employees
as of December 31

930 867 878 918 843

Number of shops as of December 31
 Switzerland
 Germany

119
73

124
65

129
55

127
43

129 
n.a.



8 Share price development

Share price since 2012²

1  Distribution free of withholding tax from the reserves from capital contributions in accordance with the Board of Directors‘  
proposal to the General Meeting on April 4, 2019.

2  Dividend reinvested.

Share price development

Information per share

(in CHF or as indication) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Shares issued at year end
(number)

40 781 213   32 195 697 32 195 697 32 195 697 35 772 996

Weighted average number
of shares outstanding

38 664 992 32 163 959 32 179 994 32 195 697 33 187 461

Earnings per share
(undiluted/diluted)

1.02 1.10 1.12 0.96 0.71

Net asset value per share 0.84 0.28 –0.10 –0.38 0.97

Distribution per share 0.601 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60

Share price (highest/lowest) 12.48/9.51 15.95/11.45 14.75/12.15 17.55/10.50 10.60/9.48

Share price as of December 31 10.94 12.85 14.50 14.35 10.55
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mobilezone overview

Headquartered in Rotkreuz, mobilezone is an independent Swiss telecommunications company 
that has been listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange since 2001. The Group includes the following 
companies: mobilezone ag, einsAmobile GmbH, TPHCom GmbH, TalkTalk AG, mobiletouch ag, 
and mobiletouch austria gmbH.

mobilezone employs a staff of 930 full-time employees in its locations in Rotkreuz, Urnäsch, 
Zweidlen, Vienna (Austria), Obertshausen (Germany), Berlin (Germany), and Münster (Germany). 
mobilezone’s business activities include marketing telecommunications service contracts of all net-
work operators in Switzerland and Germany as well as sales of mobile telecommunication devices 
and the related accessories and services.

Trade Service Providing

mobiletouchTalkTalkmobilezone 
B2B

mobilezone 
B2C TPHComeinsAmobile

Karl Steinke 
Managing Director  
TalkTalk

Christoph Traber 
Managing Director  
mobiletouch CH

Marc Müller 
Head of IT / QM & Logistics 
mobiletouch

Martin Hammerschmid
Managing Director  
mobiletouch AT

Richard Hudacek
Head of Operations

Thomas Gülünay 
Managing Director  
B2B

Werner Waldburger 
Director Business  
Steering

Nicola Lippolis 
Director Sales

Gregor Vogt 
Director Marketing & 
Communication

Daniel Ringger 
Director Operator  
Relations

Philipp Müller 
Director Controlling

Fritz Hauser 
Director IT & Logistics

Claudia Schumacher 
Director Human  
Resources

MANAGEMENT TEAM CH MANAGEMENT TEAM CH

MANAGEMENT TEAM AT
Ralf Grundhoff 
Managing Director  
TPHCom

Robert Ermich
Managing Director  
MisterMobile

Adrian Friesen
Commercial Manager

Matthias Knöpfel
Head of Sales

Julian Lange
Head of E-Commerce

Hakan Erdem 
Head of Marketing

Andreas Michels
Head of Key Account  
Mobile Devices

Timo Rodenhäuser
Operator Relations

Francisco Naranjo
Head of Controlling

MANAGEMENT TEAM DE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Urs. T. Fischer
Chairman

Andreas M. Blaser
Member

Gabriela Theus
Member

Christian Petit
Member

mobilezone holding

GROUP MANAGEMENT 
Markus Bernhard 
CEO

Andreas Fecker 
CFO

Murat Ayhan 
Managing Director DE

Akin Erdem 
Managing Director DE

Roger Wassmer 
COO CH & AT

Business segments
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Highlights 2018

JANUARY 
mobilezone acquires TPHCom. With the integ-
ration of TPHCom, mobilezone can strengthen 
its business and einsAmobile in Germany.  
TPHCom is active in the German market and 
specializes in arranging mobile phone and 
fixed-line contracts for the specialist retail trade 
and online platforms.  

FEBRUARY 
The new Samsung Galaxy models are intro-
duced. Samsung launches two new Galaxy 
models: the new flagships Samsung Galaxy S9 
and S9+. Both smartphones can be preordered 
at mobilezone immediately after the presenta-
tion in Barcelona. 

Launch of webpage for Samsung with rate 
bundles. In Germany, einsAmobile takes on 
marketing rate bundles with Samsung hard-
ware for the manufacturer Samsung.  
einsAmobile offers Samsung smartphones as 
well as the appropriate contracts via its own 
page, which is implemented on the 
manufacturer’s website.  

MARCH  
Huawei introduces the new P20 series. Huawei 
reveals its new top models in Paris. The P20  
series includes the P20, P20 Pro, and P20 lite 
smartphones.

Redemption service via smartreturn.de.  
einsAmobile launches its device redemption 
service via the new platform www.smartreturn.de. 
The service can be used in cooperation with in-
dustry and trade partners.

APRIL  
The partnershop platform is relaunched. 
Ashop.tv, the website for einsAmobile‘s multi-
brand partnershop concept, has been comple-
tely reworked and is going live. The new online 
presence is modern as well as functional and 
has a responsive design. With just a few clicks 
B2C and B2B customers can find everything 
important regarding shop locations and the 
shop concept. 

JUNE 
Shop openings and remodelings. mobilezone 
is continuously optimizing its stores. In June the 
mobilezone in Letzipark is remodeled, in August 
the shop in Biel Boujean. In August mobilezone  
also opens a pop-up store in the Centre Manor 
Monthey. At the end of September the  
mobile zone shop in the Seedamm Center has its 
grand reopening with a larger sales floor, and at 
the end of October the mobilezone shop Stücki 
Basel opens its doors. With the move of head-
quarters to Rotkreuz mobilezone opened its ne-
west shop at Suurstoffi 22.

AUGUST 
The new Samsung Galaxy Note9. Samsung in-
troduces its new business cell phone, the 
Samsung Galaxy Note9. All designs of this 
smartphone can be preordered at mobilezone 
with an attractive trade-in allowance. 

Product line expansion with new brands.  
mobilezone adds various brands to its product 
range that are not yet widely known in Switzer-
land, for example, Xiaomi. 

mobilezone rolls out its image campaign.  
mobilezone launches a large-scale image cam-
paign that is carried out nationally via various 

August
mobilezone presents 
image campaign.
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media, such as billboards, online videos, social 
media as well as TV and cinema.

New options for business customers.  
mobilezone enters into a cooperation with the 
Swiss gymnastics association (Schweizer Turn-
verband, STV), one of Switzerland’s largest 
sports associations. As a result, more than 
370,000 members have the opportunity to be-
nefit from attractive offers they can redeem on-
line as well as in any mobilezone shop.  

SEPTEMBER 
Second-hand phones at attractive prices. On 
the second floor of the remodeled mobilezone 
shop in Lugano only reconditioned smartpho-
nes are offered. In this way mobilezone conti-
nues to expand its broad range of offers. 

Salt is once again available at mobilezone. Af-
ter an absence of two years, all Salt products 
are once again available in the mobilezone 
shops as well as online. Thus, mobilezone 
again offers its customers in Switzerland the 
pricing plans for mobile and fixed-line telepho-
ny, digital TV, and internet of all providers — 
Swisscom, Sunrise, UPC, and Salt.

Apple presents the new iPhones. At the Key-
note Apple introduces its new smartphones. 
This year Apple again launches three new 
smartphones. All styles of the iPhone Xs,  
iPhone Xs Max, and iPhone XR are available at 
mobilezone shortly after the presentation. 

mobilezone moves headquarters to Rotkreuz. 
In September mobilezone ag‘s employees 
move into the first wooden high-rise in Switzer-
land on the Suurstoffi Areal in Rotkreuz. At the 
same time TalkTalk AG, which was based in 
Zug, is also moving into that building. In total, 
about 100 employees will be working together 
on one floor in an area of 1,500m². 

NOVEMBER 
mobilezone expands its repair service. The 
first mobilezone workshop implementing the 
new concept opens in Letzipark. At nine loca-
tions in total mobilezone offers customers re-
pairs with original parts of the Apple, Samsung, 
and Huawei brands. Repair appointments can 
now be scheduled online or by phone. At the 
time requested the defective device is repaired 
onsite by a certified technician.  

mobilezone enters into a strategic partner-
ship with Philion SE. Via einsAmobile  
mobilezone enters into a strategic partnership 
with Philion SE, which owns Fexcom GmbH, 
the largest independent telecommunications 
chain in Germany. As a result of the partner-
ship, the first network-independent mobile 
phone service provider is established in Ger-
many that dovetails online and offline sales. 

einsAmobile receives award as Top Distribu-
tor of 2019. In the annual reader survey of the 
telecommunications trade magazine Telecom-
Handel einsAmobile is rated as “Top Distributor 
of the Year.” This is the ninth time in a row that 
einsAmobile receives this coveted award.

September
The new mobilezone  
head office in Rotkreuz
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Strategy 

mobilezone’s strategic goals are twofold: the 
continuing development of the foundation pillars 
undergirding its successful business develop-
ment to date — namely, independence, custo-
mer focus, and cooperative partnerships with 
mobile phone providers and device manufactur-
ers — and continuous growth, both organically 
through expansion of the company’s offers and 
sales channels and externally through additional 
company acquisitions. 

To this day mobilezone continues to hold fast to 
its foundation pillars: independence, customer 
focus, and cooperative partnerships with mobile 
phone providers and device manufacturers, and 
the company is convinced that in this way it will 
continue to be successful and achieve positive 
results in the future. Increasingly, the great vari-
ety of plans offered makes independent, com-
petent advice especially important for custo-
mers — and precisely this support in making 
their purchase decision for the optimal rate plan 

and mobile phone brand is what mobilezone’s 
skilled and professionally trained employees of-
fer its customers. 

To keep pace with the rapid changes in society 
and the economy and to meet constantly chan-
ging demands, mobilezone adapts its strategic 
direction to current conditions. For instance, to 
continue offering the best possible shopping ex-
perience mobilezone successfully realized the first 
stage of the Omnichannel project in the first quar-
ter of 2019 and introduced a new ERP system and 
a new cash register system. The new systems serve 
as essential basis for offering customers an integ-
ral shopping experience by using and networking 
all available online and offline sales channels. As a 
result, mobilezone customers will be able to ac-
cess a larger networked range of offers on all sales 
channels. In addition to customers, employees, 
partners, and shareholders also are important sta-
keholders, and mobilezone takes them into consi-
deration in designing its strategy. 

Strategic focus

Growth

Expansion of online presence

Extension of the range of services offered

Gains in market share

Omnichannel platform

Optimization of the shop network

Dividend and distribution policy 
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GROWTH
It is mobilezone’s growth strategy to successful-
ly continue its current growth course. This me-
ans growth in existing business areas, in parti-
cular in the online business, specialist retail 
trade, and services. 

In particular, mobilezone sees a high growth 
potential for its online shops. For fiscal year 
2018 all online platforms again report growth, 
and thanks to the expansion of the online shop 
mobilezone.ch in the second quarter of 2019, 
still more growth is expected in this area in the 
future. 

The basis for further growth in the specialist re-
tail trade has been established with the acquisi-
tion of TPHCom. External growth will be sup-
ported with additional company acquisitions. 
This expansion strategy is limited to Switzer-
land, Germany, and Austria. 

The range of services offered was extended 
considerably thanks to the expansion of the 
mobilezone workshops. In mobilezone’s nine 
workshops defective devices of the Apple, 
Samsung, and Huawei brands are repaired on-
site. The mobilezone technicians work exclusi-
vely with original parts from the manufacturers, 
and therefore the manufacturer’s warranty re-
mains in force. In a new development, custo-
mers can now make repair appointments on-
line or by phone. At the time agreed upon the 
customer brings the defective device to a mo-
bilezone workshop, and there the device will 
be repaired onsite by certified technicians. 

Not only the internal processes but the entire 
outward appearance and presentation of these 
services have been reworked in order to 
strengthen the repair service’s market position 
and to generate additional, recurring revenues.   

Additional market share was gained in fiscal 
year 2018 in the area of repairs through part-
nerships with leading electronics retailers in 
Switzerland and Austria. As a result of these 
partnerships, mobiletouch’s certified techni-
cians carry out immediate onsite repairs on be-
half of the specialist retailer concerned.  

In its shops mobilezone offers its customers 
services such as setting up new smartphones, 
data transfer from an old to a new mobile de-
vice, and mobile phone insurance plans as well 
as warranty extensions. 

9
mobilezone workshops  
in Switzerland
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Market share gains
In particular through the acquisition of TPH-
Com mobilezone has significantly increased 
the number of its partnerships with major net-
work operators and its market share in the Ger-
man market in terms of sales and distribution.

Thanks to its strategic position as independent 
marketer and retailer in the telecommunica-
tions sector, mobilezone can offer its customers 
a very broad selection of products and service 
packages from numerous partners and has 
greater purchasing power with network opera-
tors and device manufacturers. On the basis of 
these competitive advantages, mobilezone 
aims at gaining more market share. 

Since September mobilezone again offers all 
products of the mobile provider Salt. As a re-
sult, in Switzerland all offers of all mobile provi-
ders are once again available at mobilezone.

mobilezone’s independence from network 
operators and device manufacturers is its 
“unique selling point” (USP), and the company’s 
cooperative partnership relationships with the 
network operators are the basis for mobilezone’s 
sustained business success. mobilezone has 
maintained long-standing partnerships with 
the mobile providers Swisscom, Sunrise, UPC, 
Salt, Telefónica Deutschland, and Deutsche Te-
lekom as well as with Vodafone and device ma-
nufacturers and suppliers.

14
digital platforms
a mobilezone.ch
a nettozone.ch
a DeinHandy.ch
a mobilezone.ch/business
a talktalk.ch
a mobiletouch.ch
a einsAmobile.de
a Ashop.tv
a DeinHandy.de
a DeinHome.de
a smartreturn.de
a handyinraten.de 
a TPHCom.de
a mobiletouch.at

Expansion  
of online presence
Particularly thanks to the acquisition of  
einsAmobile in 2015 mobilezone could secure 
established online sales channels (deinhandy.de  
etc.) in Germany and has expanded its compe-
tence in the area of online sales. In addition, 
einsAmobile, in cooperation with the manufac-
turer Samsung, is launching a webpage for 
marketing rate bundles together with Samsung 
hardware, a page that is implemented on 
Samsung’s website. Moreover, einsAmobile is 
also launching the platform smartreturn.de, of-
fering to buy back Samsung devices, a service 
that can be used in cooperation with industry 
and trading partners. The partner shop plat-
form Ashop.tv has been completely reworked 
and has a modern, functional, and responsive 
design.

With the continued expansion of its online pre-
sence and the new developments already un-
derway, the company pursues additional 
growth in the online retail business. In addition, 
in the first six months of 2019 the platform mo-
bilezone.ch will be relaunched. The web shop 
is to offer customers a simple and high-quality 
user experience for all relevant devices and on 
all channels. In line with the Omnichannel con-
cept, online and offline businesses will be in-
creasingly dovetailed.
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Omnichannel platform
At the beginning of 2019 mobilezone comple-
ted the first stage of its Omnichannel project. 
As a result, the full range of information will be 
available identically at all times to mobilezone 
customers and employees in the shops and on 
the mobilezone online portals. Customers can 
thus decide, for example, whether they want to 
pick up their online order in the mobilezone 
shop of their choice or have it delivered to their 
home. With its Omnichannel strategy mobile-
zone responds to the changing buying habits 
of its customers and at the same time consoli-
dates its market presence.

Expansion of the range 
of services offered
By expanding its services for business custo-
mers (hardware management, enterprise mo-
bility management, connectivity management, 
fleet management) and through the acquisition 
of mobiletouch, a provider of repair services 
and logistics, mobilezone has significantly in-
creased the range of services it offers. With 
new services, such as the free mobile phone 
test (Handy Check) as well as the expansion of 
the mobilezone workshops, the company 
seeks continued growth of its revenues from 
services. 

Dividend and  
distribution policy 
Our continued growth is based on a solid ba-
lance sheet structure, stable cash flow genera-
tion, and secure and cost-effective financing. In 
this way we can finance our investment pro-
gram and offer our shareholders an attractive 
dividend policy. 

mobilezone’s net debt target is a maximum of 
twice one EBITDA. The company plans to conti-
nue its present dividend policy and to disburse 
up to 75 percent of the net profit. 

Optimizing the  
network of shops 
mobilezone continuously evaluates the number 
and locations of its shops. The number of 
shops in Switzerland has been slightly reduced 
in the reporting year, while other shops in pre-
ferred locations have been remodeled in ac-
cordance with a uniform modern concept 
(shop layout and design). With this strategy the 
company seeks to achieve higher profitability 
of the shops, particularly in view of fluctuating 
customer traffic. Additional Ashops were  
opened in Germany. 

more than 

200
shops
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mobilezone Group overview –  
Business segments

mobilezone Group overview – Business segments

mobilezone’s business activities include marketing telecommunications service contracts (mobi-
le and fixed-line telephony, Internet, and digital TV) of all major network operators in Switzer-
land (Swisscom, Sunrise, UPC, Salt) and in Germany (Vodafone, Deutsche Telekom, Telefónica 
Deutschland) as well as selling (wholesale, supplying specialist stores, sales to business and 
private customers) mobile communication devices (mobile phones, tablets, wearables) and re-
lated accessories. 

The marketing of telecommunications service contracts as well as sales to private customers of 
mobile telecommunication devices and the related accessories is handled by specialist retailers 
via the network of the company’s own shops in Switzerland, and through partner-managed 
Ashops in Germany as well as by way of the company’s own online portals and online portals 
managed by third parties. In addition, mobilezone offers consultation and outsourcing services 
for business customers in the area of mobile telecommunications and also offers repair services 
for mobile phones from many manufacturers. With the brand “TalkTalk” mobilezone competes 
in the market with its own mobile, fixed-line and Internet offers as a Mobile Virtual Network 
Operator (that is, as a provider of mobile, fixed-line, and Internet service contracts without a 
mobile or fixed-line network of its own). For the most part, the offers are based on the network 
capacities of Sunrise. 

mobilezone has two business segments: Trade and Service Providing. The segment Trade inclu-
des the business units B2C and B2B in Switzerland as well as the einsAmobile and TPHCom in 
Germany. The segment Service Providing includes the companies TalkTalk and mobiletouch in 
Switzerland as well as mobiletouch in Austria.

Andreas Fecker 
CFO mobilezone

The capital increase  
in March 2018 and  
the positive Group 
result have further 
strengthened our 

shareholder’s equity.» 

Markus Bernhard 
CEO mobilezone

In our Swiss retail busi-
ness we achieved 

more customer traffic 
and greater sales  

volume in 2018. The 
integration of TPHCom 

in Germany went 
smoothly.»  

BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

mobilezone  
B2CCH CH

einsAmobile

TPHCom

DE

DE

AT

mobilezone  
B2B mobiletouch TalkTalk

mobiletouch

Trade SERVICE PROVIDING

mobilezone
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mobilezone B2C 
In Switzerland mobilezone has 119 shops that offer a complete range of mobile phones (including 
accessories and wearables) as well as subscription/rate plans for mobile and fixed-line telephony, 
digital TV, and Internet from the companies Swisscom, Sunrise, UPC, and Salt. Independent ex-
pert consulting and numerous services (for example, the mobilezone workshop, the company’s 
own insurance product Protect-Clever, sale of Apple’s insurance products AppleCare+, data trans-
fers, a buyback program for used mobile phones, etc.) complete the portfolio of offers. In parti-
cular, mobilezone has maintained long-standing partnerships with the network operators Swiss-
com, Sunrise, UPC, and Salt and with all major device manufacturers and suppliers. mobilezone 
operates the online platforms mobilezone.ch, deinhandy.ch, and nettozone.ch.

MARKET ENVIRONMENT
In 2018 mobile phone sales have remained stable despite a highly competitive market. In the 
area of postpaid, most of the pricing plans mobilezone sells are flat-rate plans of the network 
providers. These flat-rate plans for mobile and fixed-line telephony, digital TV, and Internet also 
include unlimited calling, messaging, and unlimited data. In addition, mobilezone’s online por-
tals saw major growth. Thanks to various new developments in the online shop, particularly in 
the area of content management, sales of smartphones and of accessories were greatly increa-
sed. More and more customers use mobilezone’s service offers and buy insurance when they 
purchase their smartphone or use the company’s offer of data transfer and backup. The expan-
sion of the on-site repair service also contributed to further strengthening mobilezone’s service 
business. 

RANGE OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
All mobilezone shops offer customers the latest smartphones and tablets as well as a large selec-
tion of accessories. Fiscal year 2018 saw several important smartphone launches. Apple again 
launched three new models: iPhone Xs, iPhone Xs Max, and iPhone XR. Apple and the Korean 
manufacturer Samsung together are the leading brands at mobilezone. Samsung introduced the 
two top models Galaxy S9 and S9+ and in August launched a new Samsung Note model. In addi-
tion to the two big players Apple and Samsung, the Chinese manufacturer Huawei also increased 
its market share. Huawei launched its P20 series with three new models: P20 lite, P20, and P20 
Pro. New, ambitious smartphone brands, such as Xiaomi, OnePlus, and Google, have been beco-
ming increasingly popular and showed growing sales, in particular via our online portals. 

SHOPS
Although our online shop is becoming more and more important, mobilezone continues at the 
same time to rely on its physical shops (POS). The salespeople in the shops and the solid expert 
advice they provide are the best advertisement for mobilezone. To make sure its salespeople can 
competently address the diverse needs of customers and find the optimal offer for them, mobile-
zone conducts training courses on an ongoing basis. The training is provided by the company’s 
own trainers and also by telecommunications service providers and manufacturers. With its own 
e-learning portal mobilezone ensures that its salespeople are at all times fully informed about new 
products, services, and pricing plans. 

In early February 2019 mobilezone implemented the first stage of its groundbreaking Omnichan-
nel project by introducing a new ERP system and a new cash register system. The new systems 
serve as essential basis for offering customers an integral shopping experience by using and 
networking all available online and offline sales channels. As a result, in the future mobilezone 
customers will be able to access a larger networked range of offers on all sales channels.

With the successful 
implementation of the 

Omnichannel project 
we have reached a  

milestone in the deve-
lopment of mobilezone.  

This allows us to offer 
customers an improved 
shopping ex perience in 

the future.» 

Roger Wassmer  
COO CH & AT



18

mobilezone B2B 
mobilezone offers independent consulting and individual customer solutions in the area of telecom-
munications for small and midsized businesses as well as for large companies. In particular, mobile-
zone connects telecom providers, device manufacturers, and businesses, and in the process mobi-
lezone supports companies in any industry sector with individual comprehensive solutions in the 
areas of hardware management, enterprise mobility, connectivity management, and fleet manage-
ment.

MARKET ENVIRONMENT
In a highly competitive market, the business customer sector, which is of strategic importance for 
mobilezone, achieved a positive business result. This development was possible primarily because 
of the further development of the outsourcing sector. Thanks to new consulting and other services, 
such as fleet management and the newly introduced advance replacement service for repair orders 
from key corporate accounts, mobilezone has successfully extended its range of services for busi-
ness customers. To strengthen the market position of its services mobilezone business has comple-
tely overhauled its market image and online presence and tailored them even more to the needs of 
customers. 

RANGE OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 
The consulting and other services mobilezone offers are geared to national and international busi-
nesses of any size and industry. Among other services, mobilezone offers a review of customers‘ 
current mobile phone and fixed-line contracts, development of customer-specific order processes, 
the purchase of new and replacement devices and repairs. The services offered also include com-
plete outsourcing of services and processes in the area of fleet management. The company’s spec-
trum of offers here ranges from standardized products to complex, individual solutions for custo-
mers. Starting this year, thanks to a service process newly introduced for this specific purpose, 
employees of key corporate accounts can learn about and purchase discounted subscription plans 
not only in the online shop but also in person in any one of mobilezone’s 119 shops. 

KEY ACCOUNTS AND FLEET MANAGEMENT 
The specialists at mobilezone serve as general contractors and take over all the work connected with 
managing mobile devices and contracts. The consultants address the individual needs of their many 
different customers with customized offers in order to find the best solution for each customer. This 
solution can include management of mobile phone contracts, equipment maintenance, and even 
insurance claim negotiation in the event of damage or loss. 

CUSTOMIZED WEB SHOP 
The mobile phones and price plans available to a company’s employees can be displayed by  
mobilezone on a customized platform. The platform is created in collaboration with the business 
customer and is tailored to that customer’s specific requirements. In addition to device purchases, 
the entire administration of a company’s mobile communication contracts is displayed. The complete 
process of employees logging in logging out of the system will be designed individually based on 
the customer’s requests. From updating an address to ordering options, customer requests are 
processed with a new ticketing system. Moreover, thanks to the integration of customer-specific 
authorization processes, mobilezone can address customer needs even more comprehensively.

Thomas Gülünay,
Managing Director B2B

Thanks to newly 
introduced service 
processes for our 

customers and part-
ners the market po-
sition of mobilezone 

B2B was further 
consolidated.»

mobilezone Group overview – Business segments
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einsAmobile
In Germany einsAmobile GmbH is one of the leading distributors of mobile communication pro-
ducts and specializes in arranging mobile communication contracts and in selling mobile phones. 
The company offers its services and products in its shop locations (partner shops) as well as on-
line. In addition, einsAmobile supplies more than 1,000 specialist stores in Germany. With the 
acquisition of TPHCom the specialist retail business in Germany has been strengthened conside-
rably. The company’s range of products includes all currently marketed models of the major ma-
nufacturers of mobile phones, tablets, notebooks, and fixed-line phones as well as accessories. 
einsAmobile is a partner of the network operators Vodafone, Deutsche Telekom, and Telefónica 
Deutschland.

MARKET ENVIRONMENT 
einsAmobile a strategic sales partner of Telefónica Deutschland and also a strategic partner of the 
manufacturers Samsung Mobile Germany and of Huawei Technologies Deutschland. Thanks to 
the extensive cooperation with additional network operators, service providers, and mobile com-
munications discounters and its close collaboration with various manufacturers, einsAmobile can 
be flexible in responding to changes in the market.  

einsAmobile GmbH has entered into a strategic partnership with Philion SE, which owns Fexcom 
GmbH, the largest independent telecommunications chain in Germany. As a result of the partner-
ship, the first network-independent mobile phone service provider that integrates online and 
offline sales has been established in Germany. 

Additional partners could be found in the German market, and the number of Ashops was in-
creased from 65 to 73. 

RANGE OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
More than 1,000 listed specialist stores and 73 Ashops throughout Germany are supplied by  
einsAmobile. An important sector for einsAmobile is the online business via its own online plat-
forms and various partner web portals. The company’s product and service portfolio is extensive 
and tailored to the needs of its partners and customers. 

PRODUCTS AND HARDWARE
The company’s broad range of offers includes all currently marketed models of the major manu-
facturers, such as Apple, Samsung, Huawei, Honor, Nokia, LG, Motorola, and Sony. Moreover, 
einsAmobile also offers a wide range of products and services in other areas connected with 
mobile communication, such as tablets and notebooks. Name-brand products for fixed-line tele-
phony round out this wide range of offers.

PRICES
As a national distributor, einsAmobile works closely with all major network operators – Telefónica 
Deutschland and Deutsche Telekom as well as Vodafone. As a result, einsAmobile offers a broad 
spectrum of pricing models for the core brands and secondary brands of all network operators.

Akin Erdem, 
Managing Director DE

We will continue also 
in the future to focus 
on consolidating and 

expanding our market 
position with long-

term planning, good 
ideas, and strong 

partners.»

Murat Ayhan,  
Managing Director DE

A market that is  
constantly in flux must 

be met with the right 
approach.  We have 

again success fully 
achieved this in the 

past fiscal year thanks 
to our focused strategy 

and the dedication of 
all our employees.»
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TalkTalk
TalkTalk is an MVNO (Mobile Virtual Network Operator), a service provider without a network inf-
rastructure of its own that offers its customers in Switzerland services in the area of mobile telepho-
ny (own post- & prepaid subscriptions), fixed-line telephony, and Internet. 

MARKET ENVIROMENT 
TalkTalk has been focusing its customer acquisition efforts on mobile offers and in particular on 
postpaid customers. It has been possible to clearly increase the turnover attributed to mobile custo-
mers. In the Postpaid SIM cards segment, the number of customers was expanded to 25,200 (pre-
vious year: 24,200). 

The balance sheets on the online channels were significantly increased in 2018. 

In 2018, TalkTalk migrated their complete IT infrastructure to the mobilezone system and opti-
mised further internal processes. Since September, all TalkTalk employees have been working at 
the mobilezone head office on the Suurstoffi site in Rotkreuz. After moving the employees to-
gether into one location on one shared floor, our communication channels have become even 
shorter, and the situation has promoted collaboration among the teams.

RANGE OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
TalkTalk offers a wide range of products in all categories from mobile (post- & prepaid) and fixed-
line to Internet. All TalkTalk products are available throughout Switzerland in all mobilezone shops 
as well as via the company’s own and also third-party online platforms. For the most part, the 
offers are based on the network capacities of Sunrise.

TalkTalk offers the cheapest contract in Switzerland at CHF 1.95 per month, which has been posi-
tively received in Switzerland. With this, TalkTalk broke through the boundaries separating pre- 
and postpaid. TalkTalk’s low international calling rates are very attractive and appeal not only to 
the entire Swiss market but particularly to customers with ethnic background.

In Switzerland and abroad, TalkTalk customers can use their mobile number to make phone calls 
at Swiss terms and conditions via VOIP. Thanks to its own extremely efficient IT system, TalkTalk 
can quickly adapt pricing plans or introduce new ones and can thus respond optimally to chan-
ging customer needs.

Karl Steinke,  
Managing Director TalkTalk

In 2018, TalkTalk  
was able to slightly 

further expand  
its postpaid  

customer base.»

mobilezone Group overview – Business segments
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mobiletouch 
The two mobiletouch companies are active in Switzerland and in Austria and offer repair and re-
lated logistics services for mobile phones, tablets, and other electronic devices and also sell refur-
bished mobile phones. mobiletouch operates one centrally located repair center in Switzerland 
and one in Austria. 

MARKET ENVIROMENT
mobiletouch is a market leader in both Switzerland and Austria. Other market shares were gained 
this year in the repairs segment through partnerships with leading electronics specialists in 
Switzer land and Austria. Certified technicians from mobiletouch are conducting immediate on-
site repairs on behalf of the respective specialist retailer. 

In order to shorten the throughput time and offer the customer an even better service, a major 
decentralisation is taking place. The repairs service is therefore being relocated on-site directly via 
the mobilezone workshops at mobilezone or through mobiletouch technicians who repair faulty 
customer devices at electronics specialists or other repair centres.

With Nespresso and the DeLonghi Group the company could win additional customers in new 
segments in Austria.

RANGE OF SERVICES
Thanks to the uninterrupted repair chain within mobilezone, which covers everything from accep-
ting devices in the shop to returning them, customers can benefit from very high repair quality.  
Nine mobilezone shops offer immediate repairs in their own mobilezone workshops. Customers 
can now book their appointment online and have their faulty Apple, Samsung or Huawei device 
repaired directly on-site at an agreed time and date. At the end of the year, the market presence 
of the workshops was overhauled. The workshops themselves are also being reworked into a new 
concept in stages over the next few months. Secure data transfer and backup round out the ser-
vice portfolio. 

In addition, mobiletouch has further expanded its range of services by offering repair services in 
locations outside of mobilezone. For example, since fiscal year 2015, mobiletouch has been offe-
ring its service also in nine Swisscom Repair Centers. 

Thanks to the ongoing and always positive collaboration with the South Korean electronic manu-
facturer Samsung, mobiletouch austria was able to expand its repair portfolio by adding the areas 
digital television (DTV) and home appliances (HA). Thus, in Austria nearly all Samsung products 
can be repaired in the central repair shop in Vienna. Another addition to the service range is on-
site repairs of Samsung products. This involves mobiletouch technicians repairing Samsung pro-
ducts in private households. In the hard-fought smartphone market segment, the first Huawei 
Premium Store has been opened under mobiletouch management. In addition to immediate and 
on-site repairs, this Customer Service Center also offers selected accessories and consultation for 
Huawei customers.

Christoph Traber,  
Managing Director mobiletouch CH

Martin Hammerschmid 
Managing Director mobiletouch AT

We are proud to be 
the market leader  

in Switzerland.»

By offering  
on-site repairs, we 

can serve a new 
market segment.»



22 Corporate Governance

Contents  
Corporate Governance

 22 Corporate Governance 
  Group structure and shareholders 23 
  Capital structure 24 
  Board of Directors 25 
  Group Management 27 
  Shareholders’ participation rights 29 
  Changes of control and defense measures  29 
  Auditor 30 
  Information policy 30 



23

Corporate Governance

1. Group structure and shareholders
1.1 Group structure 
The mobilezone Group comprises two business areas, Trade and Service Providing. The parent 
company is mobilezone holding ag, Suurstoffi 22, 6343 Rotkreuz, Switzerland, which is listed in 
the Domestic Segment of SIX Swiss Exchange (Valor no.: 27683769, ISIN: CH0276837694). As of 
December 31, 2018, the market capitalization amounted to CHF 446 million. 

Company name Company’s place
of business

Currency Share
capital  

(000)  

Capital
shares

Segment

mobilezone ag¹ CH-Rotkreuz CHF 2 850 100% Handel
einsAmobile GmbH D-Oberthausen EUR 50 100% Handel
einsAmobile Management GmbH D-Heusenstamm EUR 25 100% Handel
TPHCom GmbH² D-Heusenstamm EUR 25 100% Handel
Mister Mobile GmbH³ D-Obertshausen EUR 25 45% Handel
TalkTalk AG CH-Rotkreuz CHF 100 100% Service
mobiletouch ag CH-Zweidlen CHF 100 100% Service
mobiletouch austria gmbH A-Wien EUR 35 100% Service
¹ Effective January 1, 2018, mobilezone business ag merged with mobilezone ag (absorption).
² TPHCom GmbH was acquired on January 25, 2018. 
³ On November 14, 2018, shareholding in  Mister Mobile GmbH was reduced from 75% to 45%.

1.2 Significant shareholders

According to our share register, on December 31, 2018, the following significant shareholders and 
shareholder groups held more than 3 percent of capital shares and voting rights:

Firma 2018 2017
Credit Suisse Funds AG, Zürich 9.89% 10.06%
UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG, Basel 5.40% 5.40%
BlackRock, Inc., New York n.a. 3.32%
LB (Swiss) Investment AG, Zürich n.a. 3.01%

The principles and provisions of Corporate Governance are set forth in the 
Articles of Association and in the Organizational Regulations of mobilezone 
holding ag. The published information complies with the SIX Swiss Exchange 
guidelines on Corporate Governance and with the applicable relevant  
reporting requirements of the Swiss Code of Obligations. The balance sheet 
date is December 31, 2018, unless otherwise indicated.
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The disclosures regarding shareholdings in mobilezone holding ag are published on the electron-
ic platform of the SIX Swiss Exchange and can be retrieved via the Disclosure Office’s search 
screen at the following web link: 

www.six-exchange-regulation.com/en/home/publications/significantshareholders.html.

To our knowledge there is no shareholder’s agreement between the significant shareholders.

1.3 Cross-shareholdings
To our knowledge there are no cross-shareholdings. 

2. Capital structure 
2.1 Capital
The share capital consists of 40,781,213 registered shares at a par value of CHF 0.01 each.

2.2 Special note regarding authorized and conditional capital 
There is neither authorized nor conditional share capital.

2.3 Changes in capital
Changes in capital made in 2017 and 2018 are listed in the consolidated equity statement on page 
43 of this report, and the changes made in 2016 are listed on page 49 of 2016’s financial report.

2.4 Shares and participation certificates
As of December 31, 2018, there were 40,781,213 registered shares at a par value of CHF 0.01 each. 
Of these 100,000 (2017: 60,000) are treasury shares. Treasury shares do not have any dividend or 
voting rights. All other shares are equally entitled to dividends and voting. There are no participa-
tion certificates.

2.5 Profit-sharing certificates
There are no profit-sharing certificates.

2.6 Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations
The transferability of the registered shares is not limited.

Nominee shareholders are registered in the share register without voting rights. There are no 
agreements with Nominee shareholders regarding registration requirements.

2.7 Convertible bonds and warrants/options
As of the balance sheet date there were no convertible bonds outstanding. 

On December 29, 2017, the Board of Directors adopted a long-term incentive program (LTI) for the 
management. The individual allocation by the Board of Directors was based on the option plan 
regulations of mobilezone holding ag. The distribution in the amount of 380,000 options took 
place on June 29, 2018. The options have a term of 7 years with a vesting period of 3 years; they 
were distributed at 10 percent above the average closing share price after dividend payment 
(April 10, 2018) until June 29, 2018, with an exercise price of CHF 12.19 per share. 
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Andreas M. Blaser Christian PetitUrs T. Fischer

3. Board of Directors
3.1 Members of the Board of Directors
On December 31, 2018, the Board of Directors of mobilezone holding ag consisted of four non-ex-
ecutive members. 

Name Position Nomination Committees

Urs T. Fischer Chairman 2009 AC, CC (chair)

Andreas M. Blaser Member 2016 CC

Christian Petit Member 2018 CC

Gabriela Theus Member 2018 AC (chair)

AC: Audit Committee

CC: Compensation Committee

URS T. FISCHER
Urs T. Fischer (1954, Swiss) has been Chairman of the Board of Directors of the mobilezone Group 
since April 2009. After graduating with a diploma in engineering from the ETH Zurich, he held 
various management positions at IBM Switzerland and Digital Equipment Corporation, Switzer-
land. He was the CEO of Sunrise Communication AG in Zurich and was CEO and member of the 
Board of Directors of Ascom Group, Bern. From 2004 to 2007, Urs T. Fischer was Managing Direc-
tor of Hewlett-Packard (Switzerland) GmbH in Dübendorf, and from 2009 to 2012 he has been CEO 
of the international IT-systems company ACP in Vienna. He is on the Board of Directors of various 
corporations that are not listed on the stock exchange.

ANDREAS M. BLASER
Andreas M. Blaser (1962, Swiss) joined mobilezone Group’s Board of Directors in 2016. He is an 
entrepreneur and management consultant. After studying business administration and IT, he held 
various leadership positions in national and international IT companies. He was a cofounder of 
TVD AG, and from 1999 to 2003 he also served on its board of directors. As a member of corpo-
rate management and project director, he headed the project business of Computer Sciences 
Corporation (CSC) in Switzerland from 2003 to 2007. He is co-founder of the management con-
sulting company Blaser Meewes & Partner AG and has been a member of its board of directors 
since 2012. In addition, Andreas Blaser serves as president of the foundation Sternwarte Uecht for 
astronomical research and education.

Gabriela Theus
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CHRISTIAN PETIT
Christian Petit (1963, Swiss) joined mobilezone Group’s Board of Directors in April 2018. After 
studying business management at the ESSEC in Cergy-Pontoise (France), he held various posi-
tions at the Paribas Group in France, Belgium, and Germany. From 1993 to 1999 Christian Petit 
held various management positions at debitel France (today: La Poste Mobile) in Paris, and sub-
sequently he worked for 17 years at Swisscom. Between 2007 and 2017 he was the Swisscom 
group‘s management member responsible for the retail business (2007-2013) and then for the 
wholesale business (2013-2017). Starting on June 1, 2019, he will take on the CEO function at the 
Romandie Energie in Morges. 

GABRIELA THEUS
Gabriela Theus (1973, Swiss) joined mobilezone Group’s Board of Directors in April 2018.  After 
studying economics at the HSG St. Gallen, she began working as consultant at Knorr Capital Part-
ner in 1999 and subsequently worked at Ernst & Young and Sal. Oppenheim in the real estate 
sector before taking the position of CFO at Zug Estates Holding AG. Since September 2017 she 
has been managing director of the AG für Fondsverwaltung in Zurich.

3.2 Other activities and vested interests
Information about other activities and vested interests of the members of the Board of Directors 
can be viewed on the website at www.mobilezone.ch/ueber-uns/governance/verwaltungsrat.

3.3 Cross-involvement
There is no cross-involvement with the boards of other companies listed on the stock exchange.

3.4 Elections and terms of office
The Board of Directors is elected individually by the General Meeting of Shareholders for a one-
year term. Unlimited re-election is possible.

3.5 Internal organizational structure
Urs T. Fischer is chairman of the Board of Directors, Andreas M. Blaser, Christian Petit, and Gabri-
ela Theus are members of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors meets as often as re-
quired by business. In the past year eight half-day meetings were held at headquarters (Regens-
dorf/Rotkreuz), and one full-day meeting was held in Obertshausen, Germany, at the offices of 
einsAmobile. All members of the Board of Directors participated in eight of the meetings; one 
board member was absent with valid excuse from one of the meetings. Usually, the CEO and CFO 
attend this meeting and conferences. Other members of the Group management, employees, or 
third parties are brought in as needed.

3.6 Audit Committee (AC)
The Audit Committee was constituted for the first time after the 2018 General Meeting. Gabriela 
Theus chairs the committee, and Urs T. Fischer is a member of the Audit Committee. The Audit 
Committee meets as often as business requires. In the reporting year two meetings were held. All 
members were present for the metings. The meetings lasted two hours each. Usually, the CEO 
and CFO attend these meetings and conferences. Other members of the Group management, 
employees, or third parties are brought in as needed. 

3.7 Compensation Committee (CC)
Urs T. Fischer chairs the Compensation Committee, and Andreas M. Blaser and Christian Petit 
are members of the committee. The committee was elected for the first time at the 2018 General 
Meeting. The Compensation Committee meets as often as business requires. In the reporting 
year two meetings were held. All members were present at the meetings. On average the meet-
ings lasted two hours each.
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3.8 Definition of areas of responsibility

To the extent allowed by law, the Board of Directors has delegated managerial functions to the 
Group Management. The breakdown of tasks and competencies is established in the bylaws and 
rules of organization. They can be viewed at any time at www.mobilezone.ch/about-us/gover-
nance/downloads.

3.9 Information and control instruments vis-à-vis the Group Management
Each member of the Board of Directors has the right to be informed about the course of busi-
ness by the Group Management, even outside of official meetings, and this includes the right 
to be informed about individual transactions. The information and control tools the Board of 
Directors uses vis-à-vis the Group Management include in particular the following:

• Consolidated budget (annual)
• Quarterly reports with prior-year comparison
• Profit and loss forecast (beginning in the 3rd quarter)
• KPI reporting (monthly)
• Financial projections (half-yearly)
• Detailed oral reports of the Group Management on the course of business (in every meeting)

3.10 Directorships outside of mobilezone Group
A member of the Board of Directors may hold no more than fifteen additional directorships in 
other companies; no more than five of these may be in other companies listed on the stock ex-
change.

4. Group management
4.1 Members of the Group Management
On December 31, 2018, mobilezone holding ag’s Group Management consisted of five members.

Name Position with the company 
since in this position since

Markus Bernhard CEO 2007 2014

Andreas Fecker CFO 2007 2014

Murat Ayhan Managing Director DE 2015 2017

Akin Erdem Managing Director DE 2015 2017

Roger Wassmer COO CH & AT 2014 2017
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MARKUS BERNHARD
Markus Bernhard (1964, Swiss) has led mobilezone Group as its CEO since 2014. From 2007 to 2013 
he was mobilezone Group’s CFO. Following his graduation from the University of St. Gallen (HSG St. 
Gallen) with a degree in economics, Markus Bernhard received his diploma as a certified public ac-
countant. From 1991 to 1997, he worked as an auditor at Revisuisse Price Waterhouse AG in Zurich. He 
was CFO of Cope Inc. in Rotkreuz until 2000 and subsequently was CFO of Mount10 Holding AG, also 
in Rotkreuz. Markus Bernhard is a member of the Board of Directors of Bloxolid AG in Rotkreuz.

ANDREAS FECKER 
Andreas Fecker (1972, Swiss) joined mobilezone Group’s management as CFO in 2014. From 2007 
to 2013, he was Head of Finance & Controlling of mobilezone Group. Prior to that Andreas Fecker 
held the position of financial controller at Mount10 Holding AG from 2000 until 2005. Subsequent-
ly he was controller at Zeppelin International AG and Franke Management AG. After graduating 
with a Swiss federal certificate as a financial expert in accounting and finance, Andreas Fecker 
earned his Master of Advanced Studies degree in Controlling in 2013 at the Lucerne University of 
Applied Sciences and Arts.

MURAT AYHAN
Murat Ayhan (1977, German) has been responsible for the areas ECommerce and Operator Rela-
tions throughout the Group since 2017. He is also founder and managing director of einsAmobile 
GmbH. He studied in Darmstadt and graduated with a diploma in electrical engineering. While 
still a student, he opened three mobile phone shops in 1999, which he sold in 2001. From 2002 to 
2005 he worked as managing director at a telecommunications company in Offenbach. In 2005 
he founded einsAmobile GmbH in Obertshausen, which has been 100 percent part of the  
mobilezone Group since 2015.

AKIN ERDEM
Akin Erdem (1974, German) has been responsible for the areas Purchase and Wholesale 
throughout the Group since 2017 and is managing director of einsAmobile GmbH. After gradu-
ating from high school in 1994, he studied business administration and graduated with a diplo-
ma in business administration. In 1998 he founded his own telecommunications business, which 
he expanded into one of the leading wholesalers in Germany. In 2010 he joined einsAmobile 
GmbH as CEO and 50 percent partner; since 2015, einsAmobile GmbH has been 100 percent 
part of the mobilezone Group.

ROGER WASSMER
Roger Wassmer (1973, Swiss) has been COO Switzerland and Austria since 2017. In addition, he is 
reponsible for the Services of the mobilezone Group. Prior to that, starting in 2014, Roger Wass-
mer headed mobiletouch Schweiz as managing director and since 2015 also mobiletouch Austria. 
He was head of sales and marketing at Publimedia and EurotaxGlass’s as well as CEO of Omni-
Media AG and managing director of Car4you. From 2012 to 2014 Roger Wassmer was country 
manager at zanox Schweiz AG. After further education to earn federal qualification as marketing 
director, Roger Wassmer earned his Executive MBA degree. 

4.2 Other activities and vested interests

Information about other activities and vested interests of the members of the group-management 
can be viewed on the website at www.mobilezone.ch/ueber-uns/governance/konzernleitung

4.3 Mandates outside of mobilezone Group
No member of the Group Management may hold more than six additional mandates in other 
companies, of which no more than one mandate can be in other listed companies.

4.4 Management contracts
There are no management contracts regarding the transfer of managerial functions to third parties.

Corporate Governance
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5. Shareholders’ participation rights
5.1 Restrictions on voting rights and representation
There are no restrictions on voting rights, and the rules in the Articles of Association regarding 
participation at the General Meeting of Shareholders do not deviate from those mandated by law.

5.2 Statutory quorums
There are no statutory voting quorums that deviate from those mandated by law.

5.3 Convocation of the General Meeting of Shareholders
There are no statutory voting quorums that deviate from those mandated by law.

5.4 Agenda
Shareholders representing shares of at least 3 percent of the share capital may ask to have a sub-
ject for discussion entered on the agenda for the General Meeting. Convening the meeting and 
setting its agenda must be requested in writing, and the item for discussion, as well as the propos-
als and motions must be named in the written request. There are no deadlines.

5.5 Registration in the share register
Voting rights can only be exercised by shareholders and beneficiaries who are registered in the 
mobilezone holding ag share register with voting rights. To be registered as a shareholder with 
voting right requires a declaration on the part of the shareholder that the mobilezone holding ag 
shares were acquired in the shareholder’s own name and on the shareholder’s own account.

5.6 Proxy voting / electronic participation in the General Meeting
A shareholder may be represented by a third party who has been authorized in writing; the third 
party does not have to be a shareholder. Alternatively, a shareholder may choose to be represent-
ed by the Independent Proxy. Shareholders can also authorize and instruct the Independent 
Proxy electronically; the Board of Directors will specify the relevant modalities. The members of 
the Board of Directors present at the General Meeting shall decide whether to recognize or reject 
the proxy. Additional information on provisions regarding voting instructions to the Independent 
Proxy as well as on electronic participation in the General Meeting will be set forth in the invitation 
to the General Meeting.

6. Changes of control and defense measures
6.1 Duty to make an offer
There is no opting-out regulation.

6.2 Clauses regarding changes of control
There are no change-of-control clauses.
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7. Auditor
7.1 Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor
Since fiscal year 2014, PricewaterhouseCoopers AG has been the auditor of mobilezone holding 
ag and all its Group companies. Prior to that year, Ernst & Young AG served for seven years as the 
company’s auditor. The auditor is chosen annually by the General Meeting. The lead auditor is 
Daniel Ketterer.

7.2 Auditing fees
The auditing fees agreed on with the auditors for the fulfillment of their mandate, including audit-
ing the consolidated accounts, amount to a total of CHF 257,000.

7.3 Additional fees
In fiscal year 2018 PricewaterhouseCoopers submitted invoices in the amount of CHF 161,000 for 
additional services beyond the scope of the auditors‘ legal mandate. The invoices were for ser-
vices in connection with the issue prospectus for the capital increase of March 2018 and for ser-
vices related to the acquisition of TPHCom GmbH in January 2018. 

7.4 Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to the audit
The auditors attend at last one meeting of the Audit Committee every year; usually they attend at 
least  the final discussion of the audit. The auditors present the findings from their audit in an audit 
report to the Board of Directors.

8. Information policy
Pursuant to the rules of Swiss GAAP FER, each year in March and August, mobilezone Group 
publishes an annual and a semi-annual report on business performance. All publications are 
made available in electronic form and are published on the Group’s website. Upon request, the 
annual report and the semiannual report are made available in print. Additional information on 
important changes and essential business activities is published on an ad-hoc basis. All informa-
tion, including publication dates and a list of contact addresses, is available on the website at 
www.mobilezone.ch/about-us/company/about-us under the headings «Investors» and «Media». 
Anyone who wishes to receive mobilezone’s media information automatically can register at www.
mobilezone.ch/about-us/investors/ir-service. 

For 2019 the following important dates have been set:

• Publication of the 2018 annual report   March 8, 2019
• Conference with financial analysts and media   March 8, 2019
• General Meeting    April 4, 2019
• Publication of semi-annual report   August 23, 2019
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Compensation Report

1.  Introduction
In compliance with the statutory provisions (Code of Obligations, Ordinance against Excessive 
Compensation of Listed Companies [Verordnung gegen übermässige Vergütungen bei börsen-
kotierten Aktiengesellschaften, VegüV], and the SIX Swiss Exchange listing rules) and the Articles 
of Association, the current compensation report sets forth the compensation policy for mobile-
zone Group’s Board of Directors and Group management. In addition, the effective compensation 
of the reporting year and each member’s share portfolio are reported.

mobilezone pursues a profit- and performance-based and transparent compensation policy that is 
oriented toward the company’s long-term growth and prosperity. Accordingly, the members of the 
Group management receive their compensation that is based on the net profit in shares of mobile-
zone holding ag that are subject to a blocking period of three years. 

2. Authority and determination of compensation
2.1. General
In accordance with the VegüV, the 2015 annual General Meeting approved the amended Articles 
of Association. The amended articles stipulate that each year the Board of Directors will submit to 
the General Meeting for its approval the maximum total amount of compensation for the Board of 
Directors for the subsequent term of office. If unforeseeable events result in extraordinary de-
mands made on the members of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors may submit differ-
ent or additional proposals regarding the same or other time periods to the General Meeting for 
its approval.

The members of the Group management receive a fixed compensation in cash and a profit-based 
compensation in shares as well as a performance-based compensation in cash. At its December 
meeting the Compensation Committee discusses any adjustments of the Group management‘s 
compensation for the following year and proposes them to the Board of Directors. The CEO par-
ticipates as guest without voting rights in the discussions regarding the other members of the 
Group management. The CEO is not present for the discussion of the CEO‘s own compensation. 
In the first quarter of the following year, the Compensation Committee evaluates whether and to 
what extent the Group management objectives were achieved and accordingly presents recom-
mendations to the Board of Directors. Based on the individual agreements on objectives of the 
other members of the Group management, the CEO proposes to the Compensation Committee 
that the objectives for the performance-based compensation in cash have been achieved. The 
CEO is not present when the CEO‘s own performance and performance-based compensation are 
evaluated. 

2.2. Board of Directors
The members of the Board of Directors receive a fixed compensation in cash that is not depen-
dent on profit. The compensation amounts to CHF 130,000 (2017: CHF 130,000) for the chairman 
of the Board of Directors and CHF 75,000 (2017: CHF 75,000) for the other members of the Board 
of Directors. In the reporting year the company introduced an Audit Committee and a Compen-
sation Committee. The chair of a committee is compensated with CHF 20,000, and membership 
in a committee is compensated with CHF 10,000. 

Compensation Report
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2.3. Group Management
The compensation of the members of the Group management consists of a fixed compensation in 
cash and a variable compensation. The variable compensation includes a profit-based compensa-
tion in shares of mobilezone holding ag that are subject to a blocking period of three years, a 
performance-based compensation in cash as well as other employee benefits (employer contribu-
tions to the pension fund, social security and personnel insurance as well as nonmonetary benefits).

At the 2019 annual General Meeting the Board of Directors will propose the approval of a maxi-
mum permissible fixed compensation for the Group management for fiscal year 2019 and will also 
propose the approval of the total amount of the Group management‘s variable compensation for 
fiscal year 2018. If the 2019 General Meeting accepts the proposal of the Board of Directors and 
agrees to the proposed changes in the Articles of Association regarding the time when the maxi-
mum compensation amounts shall be approved, the Board of Directors will also propose to the 
2019 General Meeting the maximum permissible variable compensation for 2019 and the maxi-
mum total compensation of the Group management for 2020.

Fixed compensation
At its 2018 annual meeting, the General Meeting approved the maximum total compensation 
amount of CHF 2,200,000. The actual fixed compensation amounted to CHF 2,006,000. 

The fixed compensation and the target annual salary of the members of the Group management are 
proposed by the Compensation Committee to the Board of Directors in December of every year 
and are reviewed with due consideration of the budget adopted and the experience and skills of the 
Group management member concerned.

Profit-based compensation in shares
The budget approved by the Board of Directors is the target for a 100 percent achievement of 
objectives. In fiscal year 2018 the budget for 100 percent achievement of the objectives amounted 
to a net profit of CHF 39.6 million. The target range was defined by the lower limit of a net profit 
of CHF 30.6 million and the upper limit of CHF 48.6 million. If the upper limit of a net profit of 
CHF 48.6 million had been reached, the variable compensation to be paid in blocked shares 
would have doubled. This upper limit cannot be exceeded. If the net profit had been below  
CHF 30.6 million, no variable compensation in shares would have been paid out.  

The amount of the compensation paid in shares upon achievement of the upper limit corresponds 
at maximum to 100 percent of the fixed compensation. The total number of shares allotted is cal-
culated on the basis of the average mobilezone share closing price on the 20 trading days preced-
ing the December budget meeting of the Board of Directors for the following fiscal year. For fiscal 
year 2018 the bonus is converted into shares at the calculated average share price of CHF 11.34. 

Performance-based compensation in cash 
The performance-based compensation in cash is dependent on whether the individual objectives 
of the members of the Group management have been achieved over the course of a one-year 
period. These objectives, their relative weight, and the amount are proposed annually in Decem-
ber by the Compensation Committee and are approved by the Board of Directors. The individual 
objectives cannot be exceeded.

In the reporting year the variable compensation (based on net profit and the achievement of indi-
vidual objectives) came to between 17 percent and 62 percent (2017: 54 percent and 92 percent) of 
the fixed compensation paid in cash. In the calculation of the compensation net profit was weight-
ed at 64 to 76 percent, and the achievement of the performance objectives was weighted at 24 to 
36 percent. The variable compensation to be paid in shares and the variable compensation to be 
paid in cash will be disbursed after the 2019 General Meeting. 

The lump sum expenses approved by the tax office are not included in the compensation amounts 
reported because they are reimbursements of expenses. As in the previous year, in the reporting 
year these expenses totaled between CHF 12,000 and CHF 15,600 per member of the Group man-
agement who is employed in Switzerland. 
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The employment contracts of members of the Group management are open-ended and can be 
terminated with a maximum notice period of 12 months. No agreements regarding severance pay-
ments were made. 

No severance payments were made to members of any governing bodies who left in the course of 
the reporting year.

3.  Compensations, shareholdings, 
and loans to governing bodies

3.1. Members of the Board of Directors
In the reporting year the board of directors was expanded from three to four members. Details 
regarding the compensation paid to the members of the Board of Directors are as follows:

(CHF 000) Year Fee fixed Committee Other compensation1 Total

Urs T. Fischer
2018 130 30 12 172

2017 130 n.a. 8 138

Andreas M. Blaser
2018 75 10 6 91

2017 75 n.a. 5 80

Christian Petit²
2018 75 10 6 91

2017 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.

Gabriela Theus²
2018 75 20 7 102

2017 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.

Cyrill Schneuwly³
2018 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.

2017 75 n.a. 5 80

Total
2018 355 70 31 456

2017 280 n.a. 18 298

¹ The item «Other compensation» includes employer contributions to the social security system.
² At the General Meeting on April 5, 2018, Christian Petit and Gabriela Theus were elected to the Board of Directors.
³ At the annual General Meeting on April 5, 2018, Cyrill Schneuwly did not stand for reelection.

In the reporting year, no loans or credits were granted to members of the Group Management.
Moreover, there are no outstanding loan or credit balances.

3.2. Former members of the Board of Directors
In the reporting year, no compensation was paid and no loans or credits were granted to former 
members of the Board of Directors. There are also no outstanding loan or credit balances.

3.3. Shareholdings of the Board of Directors 
As of December 31, the members of the Board of Directors held the following number of shares:

Name Position            Number of shares
2018 2017

Urs T. Fischer Chairman 2 500 1 000
Andreas M. Blaser Member 0 0
Christian Petit¹ Member 0 n.a.
Gabriela Theus¹ Member 0 n.a.
Cyrill Schneuwly² Member n.a. 2 000

¹ At the General Meeting on April 5, 2018, Christian Petit and Gabriela Theus were elected to the Board of Directors. 
² At the annual General Meeting on April 5, 2018, Cyrill Schneuwly did not stand for reelection.

Compensation Report
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3.4. Members of the Group Management
As of January 1, 2017, the Group management was expanded from three to five members. The 
details regarding the compensation of the members of the Group Management are as follows:

(CHF 000) Year Fixed 
Compen-

sation

in cash

Profit-
based 

compen-
sation¹ 
in shares

Profit-
based 

compen-
sation 
in cash

Performance-
based 

compen-
sation  
in cash

Other
benefits²

Total

Markus Bernhard
2018 450 210 0 68 180 908

2017 400 204 44 120 183 951

Übrige Mitglieder  

der Konzernleitung  

2018 1 556 271 0 128 343 2 298

2017 1 288 151 33 76 274 1 822

Total
2018 2 006 481 0 196 523 3 206

2017 1 688 355 77 196 457 2 773

¹ The shares received are subject to a blocking period of three years. 
2    The other benefits include employer contributions to the pension fund, social security and personnel insurance as well as non-

monetary benefits. In addition, in fiscal year 2018 other employee benefits included expenditures in the amount of CHF 54,771 
(2017: CHF 0) for the distribution of the options. The valuation followed the Black Scholes method.  

In the reporting year the Group management’s compensation increased by CHF 433,000 to CHF 
3,206,000. The increase is mainly (90 percent) due to the adjustment of the compensation for the 
German members of the Group management. 

As of the end of 2017 the three-year earn-out model for the two German members of the Group 
management expired; the earn-out model dated from the acquisition of einsAmobile in March 
2015. For fiscal year 2018 an adjustment in the fixed compensation in cash was made in the 
amount of CHF 210,000, and for the first time a variable compensation in shares and cash totaling 
CHF 181,000 was effected. 

In the reporting year, no loans or credits were granted to members of the Group Management.
Moreover, there are no outstanding loan or credit balances.

3.5. Former members of the Group Management
In the reporting year, no compensation was paid and no loans or credits were granted to former 
members of the Group Management. Moreover, there are no outstanding loan or credit balances.

3.6. Closely linked third parties
In the reporting year, no non-market-compliant compensation was paid and no loans or credits 
were granted to persons who are closely linked to current or former members of the Board of 
Directors and the Group Management. Moreover, there are no outstanding loan or credit balanc-
es. Further information about compensation to related parties can be found on page 62 in Note 
24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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3.7. Shareholdings and options held by the Group management
As of December 31 the members of the Group management held the following number of shares 
and options: 

Name Position
Number of shares  Number of options
2018 2017 2018 2017

Markus Bernhard Chief Executive Officer 100 000 67 500 120 000 n.a.

Andreas Fecker Chief Financial Officer 40 000 24 146 50 000 n.a.

Murat Ayhan Managing Director DE 300 000 235 756 50 000 n a.

Akin Erdem Managing Director DE 300 000 235 756 50 000 n.a.

Roger Wassmer Chief Operating Officer CH & AT 5 504 0 50'000 n.a.

3.8. Long-Term Incentive Programm
On December 29, 2017, the Board of Directors adopted a long-term incentive program (LTI) for the 
management. The first distribution in the amount of 380,000 options took place on June 29, 2018. The 
options have a term of 7 years with a vesting period of 3 years; they were distributed at 10 percent above 
the average closing share price after dividend payment April 10, 2018 until June 29, 2018, with an exer-
cise price of CHF 12.19 per share. The long-term incentive program is an equity instrument (equity-set-
tled plan). 
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January 1 to December 31 (CHF 000) Notes 2018 2017 

Net sales 1 1 195 599 1 171 578

Cost of goods and materials –1 038 761 –1 021 752
Gross profit 156 838 149 826

Other operating income 815 416
Personnel costs 2 –64 365 –59 883
Other operating costs 3 –34 992 –34 405
Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) 58 296 55 954

Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 7 –3 566 –3 079
Amortization of intangible assets 8 –2 195 –2 752
Operating profit (EBIT) 52 535 50 123

Financial income 4 972 236
Financial expense 5 –2 946 –2 519
Profit before taxes (EBT) 50 561 47 840

Income tax expense 6 –11 030 –12 614
Net profit 39 531 35 226

CHF CHF
Earnings per share 15 1.02 1.10
Earnings per share – diluted 15 1.02 1.10

The attached explanatory Notes are an integral part of mobilezone’s consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated income statement 

Financial statements
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As of December 31 (CHF 000) Notes 2018 2017

Assets
Property, plant & equipment 7 10 967 9 388
Intangible assets 8 14 338 11 230
Other accounts receivable 10 411 427
Deferred tax assets 6 1 342 53
Fixed assets 27 058 21 098

Inventories 11 82 741 80 591
Trade accounts receivable 12 117 388 68 173
Other accounts receivable 13 8 563 9 174
Accruals 14 38 931 35 726
Cash & cash equivalents 92 389 87 878
Current assets 340 012 281 542

Total assets 367 070 302 640

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Share capital 15 408 322
Treasury shares 15 –1 084 –735
Capital reserves 8 905 8 898
Retained earnings 26 153 492
Shareholders’ equity 34 382 8 977

Bank loan 19 140 118 20 480
Deferred income tax liabilities 6 2 787 2 895
Long-term liabilities 142 905 23 375

Trade accounts payable 16 133 125 93 759
Current income tax liabilities 5 137 5 253
Other liabilities 18 6 449 20 623
Bank loan 19 28 432 137 598
Deferral 17 16 640 13 055
Current liabilities 189 783 270 288

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 367 070 302 640

The attached explanatory Notes are an integral part of mobilezone’s consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated balance sheet
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January 1 to December 31 (CHF 000) Notes 2018 2017

Net profit before income taxes 50 561 47 840
Adjustments to reconcile profit  
before tax to net cash flow:
Non-cash transactions
 Interest income / expense 1 974 2 283
 Depreciation and amortization 7,8 5 761 5 831
 Changes of adjustments, net –28 104
 Erfolg aus Abgang von Anlagevermögen –25 –14
     Expenditure for share-based compensation 11 0
Net cash flow from operating activities before change 
in  net current assets and taxes 58 254 56 044

Working capital adjustments
 Trade accounts receivable –48 672 7 270
 Other accounts receivable and accruals –2 807 –15 930
 Inventories –3 232 –26 902
 Trade accounts payable 20 082 56 092
 Other accounts payable and deferrals –10 471 –1 851
Income taxes paid –7 769 –28 812
Net cash from operating activities 5 385 45 911

Acquisitions of
 Property, plant & equipment 7 –5 146 –4 227
 Intangible assets 8 –5 274 –6 720
 Securities in fixed assets –1 –148
 Acquisition of subsidiaries less cash & cash equivalents 9 –42 063 0
     Acquisition of subsidiary / Earn-out 9,18 –11 553 –15 979
Proceeds from disposals of
 Property, plant & equipment 209 97
     Intangible assets 3 0
 Securities in fixed assets 850 209
Dividends received 46 29
Interest received 76 208

Net cash from investment activity –62 853 –26 531

Proceeds of bank loan 39 689 72 124
Repayment bank loan –26 920 –10 600
Interest paid –2 933 –2 520
Purchase of treasury shares –2 336 –1 306
Sale of treasury shares 1 983 595
Capital increase 79 037 0
Dividends paid –24 392 –19 305
Net cash from financing activity  64 128 38 988

Effect of currency translation –2 149 2 477
Net increase in cash & cash equivalents  4 511 60 845

Cash & cash equivalents at January 1 87 878 27 033

Cash & cash equivalents at December 31 92 389 87 878

The attached explanatory Notes are an integral part of mobilezone’s consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Financial statements
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Movement of shareholders’ equity
(CHF 000) Notes Share

capital
Treasury

shares
Capital
reserve

Goodwill
offset

Retained
earnings Total

01.01.2017 322 0 8 874 –99 726 87 236 –3 294
Net profit 35 226 35 226
Purchase of treasury shares –1 306 –1 306
Sale of treasury shares 595 595
Dividends paid 15 –19 305 –19 305
Profit of treasury shares –24 24 0
Acquisitions 9, 19 –5 163 –5 163
Foreign currency differences 2 224 2 224
31.12.2017 322 –735 8 898 –104 889 105 381 8 977
Net profit 39 531 39 532
Capital increase 86 78 951 79 037
Purchase of treasury shares –2 336 –2 336
Sale of treasury shares 1 983 1 983
Dividends paid –24 392 –24 392
Profit of treasury shares 4 –4 0
Share-based compensation 11 11
Acquisitions –66  928 –66 928
Foreign currency differences –1 501 –1 501
31.12.2018 408 –1 084 8 905 –171 817 197 970 34 382

The attached explanatory Notes are an integral part of mobilezone’s consolidated financial statements.

As of December 31, 2018, the line item «retained earnings» includes legally required reserves in the amount of  
CHF 1,640,000 (2016: CHF 1,640,000); it is required that they not be distributed. These reserves were established based 
on the legal requirements of the Swiss Code of Obligations. 

At the extraordinary General Meeting of mobilezone holding ag on March 9, 2018, the shareholders agreed to a 
capital increase in the amount of CHF 85,855.16 through issuing 8,585,516 registered shares with a par value of  
CHF 0.01. The capital increase was effected by means of a rights issue. Existing shareholders received a subscription 
right for each registered share they held as of March 14, 2018, after the close of markets. Fifteen subscription rights 
granted the owner the right to subscribe for 4 new registered shares. The subscription price was CHF 9.50. The 
proceeds from the capital increase amounted to CHF 81.6 million minus transaction costs in the amount of CHF 2.6 
million.

As of December 31, 2018, mobilezone holding ag holds 100,000 (2016: 60,000) treasury shares.

Additional information regarding the share capital is provided in Note 15, page 59.

Consolidated statement of changes 
in shareholders’ equity
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Income statement (CHF 000) Total mobilezone Group             Trade       Service Providing Unallocated/Elimination
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Net sales with third parties 1 195 599 1 171 578 1 099 254 1 079 427 96 345 92 151 0 0
Net sales with other segments 0 0 3 472 4 666 2 776 3 200 –6 248 –7 866
Net sales 1 195 599 1 171 578 1 102 726 1 084 093 99 121 95 351 –6 248 –7 866

Cost of goods and materials –1 038 761 –1 021 752 –975 779 –966 701 –69 873 –63 197 6 891 8 146
Gross profit 156 838 149 826 126 947 117 392 29 248 32 154 643 280

Other operating income 815 416 1 319 879 159 351 –663 –814
Personnel costs –64 365 –59 883 –46 554 –43 435 –15 590 –14 222 –2 221 –2 226
Other operating costs –34 992 –34 405 –34 332 –33 957 –3 860 –4 194 3 200 3 746

Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) 58 296 55 954 47 380 40 879 9 957 14 089 959 986

Depreciation of property, plant & equipment –3 566 –3 079 –3 250 –2 769 –262 –288 –54 –22
Amortization of intangible assets –2195 –2 752 –854 –1 068 –1 341 –1 684 0 0
Operating profit (EBIT) 52 535 50 123 43 276 37 042 8 354 12 117 905 964

Statement of financial position (CHF 000)

Fixed assets 27 058 21 098 24 181 17 935 2 777 3 081 100 82
Current assets 340 012 281 542 307 017 247 778 28 304 33 466 4 691 298
Total assets 367 070 302 640 331 198 265 713 31 081 36 547 4 791 380

Liabilities 332 688 293 663 409 640 297 268 16 222 14 546 –93 174 –18 151

Investments in property, plant & equipment, and intangible assets 10 420 10 947 9 012 8 988 1 337 1 897 71 62

The management of mobilezone Group is the main decision-maker and determines the business 
activities. The mobilezone Group has two reportable segments which correspond to the manage-
ment structure of the Group. The segment Trade includes mobilezone ag, einsAmobile GmbH, 
einsAmobile Management GmbH, and TPHcom GmbH. The segment Service Providing includes 
TalkTalk AG, mobiletouch ag, and mobiletouch austria gmbH.

The mobilezone Group monitors performance on the basis of the segment operating profit before 
interests and taxes (EBIT). The total assets of each segment comprise all assets of the segment.  
Internal reporting of the mobilezone Group is based on the Swiss GAAP FER.

The Trade segment's operations are limited to Switzerland and Germany. In addition to operating 
in Switzerland, the Service Providing segment has also been active in Austria.

The «Unallocated/Eliminations» item comprises transactions between the segments and the hold-
ing company as well as the income of the holding company. Within the assets, loans between 
Group companies are eliminated.

Financial statements

Segment information

Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements
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Income statement (CHF 000) Total mobilezone Group             Trade       Service Providing Unallocated/Elimination
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Net sales with third parties 1 195 599 1 171 578 1 099 254 1 079 427 96 345 92 151 0 0
Net sales with other segments 0 0 3 472 4 666 2 776 3 200 –6 248 –7 866
Net sales 1 195 599 1 171 578 1 102 726 1 084 093 99 121 95 351 –6 248 –7 866

Cost of goods and materials –1 038 761 –1 021 752 –975 779 –966 701 –69 873 –63 197 6 891 8 146
Gross profit 156 838 149 826 126 947 117 392 29 248 32 154 643 280

Other operating income 815 416 1 319 879 159 351 –663 –814
Personnel costs –64 365 –59 883 –46 554 –43 435 –15 590 –14 222 –2 221 –2 226
Other operating costs –34 992 –34 405 –34 332 –33 957 –3 860 –4 194 3 200 3 746

Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) 58 296 55 954 47 380 40 879 9 957 14 089 959 986

Depreciation of property, plant & equipment –3 566 –3 079 –3 250 –2 769 –262 –288 –54 –22
Amortization of intangible assets –2195 –2 752 –854 –1 068 –1 341 –1 684 0 0
Operating profit (EBIT) 52 535 50 123 43 276 37 042 8 354 12 117 905 964

Statement of financial position (CHF 000)

Fixed assets 27 058 21 098 24 181 17 935 2 777 3 081 100 82
Current assets 340 012 281 542 307 017 247 778 28 304 33 466 4 691 298
Total assets 367 070 302 640 331 198 265 713 31 081 36 547 4 791 380

Liabilities 332 688 293 663 409 640 297 268 16 222 14 546 –93 174 –18 151

Investments in property, plant & equipment, and intangible assets 10 420 10 947 9 012 8 988 1 337 1 897 71 62
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Principles of Group accounting
Corporate information
mobilezone’s business activities include marketing telecommunications service contracts (mobile 
and fixed-line telephony, Internet, and digital TV) of numerous major network operators in Switzer-
land and in Germany as well as selling (wholesale, supplying specialist stores, sales to business and 
private customers) mobile communications devices (mobile phones, tablets) and matching accesso-
ries. The marketing of telecommunications service contracts as well as sales of mobile telecommu-
nications devices and the matching accessories to private customers is handled by specialist retail-
ers, by a network of shops, and by the company’s own online portals as well as by way of online 
portals managed by third parties. In addition, mobilezone Group offers consulting and outsourcing 
services for business customers in the area of mobile telecommunications and also offers repair 
services for mobile phones of numerous manufacturers. With the brand «TalkTalk» mobilezone 
competes in the Swiss market with its own mobile, fixed-line and Internet offers as a Mobile Virtual 
Network Operator (that is, as a provider of mobile, fixed-line, and Internet service contracts without 
a mobile or fixedline network of its own). For the most part, the offers are based on the network 
capacities of Sunrise.

mobilezone has two business segments: Trade and Service Providing. The segment Trade is active 
in Switzerland and Germany, and the segment Service Providing is active in Switzerland and Austria. 
The segment Trade includes mobilezone ag, einsAmobile GmbH, einsAmobile Management 
GmbH, and TPHcom GmbH. The segment Service Providing includes TalkTalk AG, mobiletouch ag, 
and mobiletouch austria gmbH.

The parent company of the mobilezone Group is mobilezone holding ag, Suurstoffi 22,  
6343 Rotkreuz, Switzerland. The company is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange: stock ticker symbol 
MOZN / Swiss Security Number 276 837 69.

Financial statements
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1. Important principles of Group accounting
1.1 Principles of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements of mobilezone Group have been prepared in accordance with 
all existing guidelines of Swiss GAAP FER (accounting and reporting regulations). The consolidated 
financial statements of mobilezone provide a true and fair picture of its asset, financial, and earnings 
situation (true and fair view) in accordance with the principles of Swiss GAAP FER, and comply with 
Swiss law. The consolidated accounts have been prepared on the basis of the historical cost princi-
ple, except for derivative financial instruments and securities, which are listed at their fair market 
value. The Group’s consolidated accounts are based on the Group companies’ separate financial 
statements that have been prepared in accordance with uniform guidelines. The uniform balance 
sheet date is December 31. The reporting currency is the Swiss franc (CHF).

1.2 Definition of non Swiss GAAP FER key figures
The gross profit subtotal includes net sales after deduction of the cost of goods and changes in 
inventories. The EBITDA subtotal includes gross profit and other operating income after deduction 
of personnel costs, operative leasing, and other operating expenses. Since the gross profit and 
EBITDA subtotals are important control factors for mobilezone, they are reported separately in the 
income statement.

The interim total of net cash flow from operative activities before the change to the net working 
capital and paid tax is separately declared in the cash flow analysis, as this represents an import-
ant control measurement for mobilezone. The key figure is calculated from the profit before tax, 
the interest result and non-cash items.

1.3 Principles of consolidation 

Scope of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of mobilezone include the financial statements of mo-
bilezone holding ag and all the subsidiaries it controls directly or indirectly by majority of votes 
or other means. mobilezone holding ag currently holds shares in the following companies:  

Company Corporate  
headquarters

Currency Equity
capital  

(000)  

Capital
voting
shares

Segment Conso-
lidation

mobilezone ag³ CH-Rotkreuz CHF 2 850 100% Handel V1

einsAmobile GmbH D-Obertshausen EUR 50 100% Handel V1

einsAmobile Management GmbH D-Obertshausen EUR 25 100% Handel V1

TPHCom GmbH⁴ D-Heusenstamm EUR 25 100% Handel V1

Mister Mobile GmbH⁵ D-Obertshausen EUR 25 45% Handel E2

TalkTalk AG CH-Rotkreuz CHF 100 100% Service V1

mobiletouch ag CH-Zweidlen CHF 100 100% Service V1

mobiletouch austria gmbH A-Wien EUR 35 100% Service V1

1  V: full consolidation.
2  E: Equity valuation.
³ Effective January 1, 2018, mobilezone business ag merged with mobilezone ag.
⁴ TPHCom GmbH was acquired on January 25, 2018.
⁵  On November 14, 2018, 30 percent of the shares in Mister Mobile GmbH were sold. As of the balance sheet date of December 

31, 2018, the company was valued based on the equity method (formerly: acquisition cost).

Assets and liabilities, as well as expenses and income of the fully consolidated companies are incor-
porated at 100 percent. Upon consolidation, all accounts payable to, accounts receivable from, and 
transactions between the companies included in the consolidation are offset and eliminated. Interim 
gains from such transactions are eliminated. 

The acquisition cost of subsidiaries is offset at the time of acquisition against the fair market value of 
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the net assets acquired, liabilities, and contingent liabilities based on their new valuation, and the 
resulting goodwill is offset at the time of acquisition against shareholders’ equity (profit reserves).
Upon consolidation, all accounts payable to, accounts receivable from as well as transactions and 
resulting paper profits between the companies included in the consolidation are eliminated. Com-
panies which have a minimum of 20 percent but a maximum of 50 percent participation are recor-
ded according to the equity method.

Estimates and discretionary decisions
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with FER requires evaluations, assump-
tions, and estimates that influence the items in the financial statements as of the balance sheet 
date. These evaluations, assumptions, and estimates are based on empirical values and other  
factors that are considered adequate under the given conditions. The actual results may deviate 
from these estimates. The estimates and the assumptions based on them are subject to continu-
ous revision. Changes to estimates that affect the annual financial statements are included in the 
reporting period in which the estimate was revised as well as in future reporting periods if they 
are affected by the revised estimates.

Segment information
The segment reporting format reflects the structure of the mobilezone Group. The assets as well 
as the liabilities include all balance sheet items that can be directly allocated to a segment.

The segment Trade includes the companies mobilezone ag, einsAmobile GmbH, einsAmobile 
Management GmbH, and TPHCom GmbH. The segment Service Providing includes the compa-
nies TalkTalk AG, mobiletouch ag, and mobiletouch austria gmbH.

1.4 Principles of recognition and valuation

Principles of recognition and valuation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Swiss francs. The functional currency of all 
Group companies is the Swiss franc or the euro. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rate effective on the balance sheet date. 
Foreign-currency transactions are translated at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the 
transaction. Gains or losses arising from transactions and foreign currency translations of balance 
sheet items are included in the income statement. Effective December 31, 2018, the euro ex-
change rate of 1.1373 (2017: 1.1808) was used for the statement of financial position, and the aver-
age exchange rate of 1.16704 (2017: 1.1226) was applied to the income statement.

Securities
Generally, securities are initially valued at historical cost plus transaction costs. Subsequently,  
securities are adjusted to market value and are recognized in the income statement under current 
assets.

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges
Significant amounts in the item «Prepaid expenses and deferred charges» include sales deferrals 
for soliciting new customers and contract extensions. Sales deferrals are calculated on the basis 
of sales and contracts not yet allocated. The effective allocation takes place in subsequent periods 
and can differ from the sales deferrals. Differences in the allocations to sales deferrals and revised 
assessments are recognized in the subsequent period in which the effective allocation or the re-
vised assessment occurs.

Financial statements
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Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not listed on any stock exchange. They arise when mobilezone directly makes money, 
goods, or services available to a debtor and does not intend to trade with the receivable. Receiv-
ables from sales of services and products are valued at their nominal value, less the necessary 
value adjustments for receivables at risk. In addition to individual value adjustments for specific 
receivables known to be at risk, lump sum value adjustments are made for items that are overdue. 
The changes in the value adjustment are recognized in the income statement. The nominal value 
corresponds roughly to the market value. With the exception of values maturing more than 12 
months after the balance sheet date, they are included in the current assets. The latter are classi-
fied as fixed assets.

Property, plant, and equipment
Property, plant, and equipment are stated at historical cost or manufacturing cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis on the basis 
of the following estimated useful lives of items of property, plant, and equipment:

• Office equipment and furniture, including EDP, 2 to 10 years
• Shop equipment 5 to 8 years
Effective January 1, 2017, software was reclassified because of its materiality from «Other property, 
plant & equipment» to «Intangible assets» (software).

Intangible assets
Acquired rights, such as contracts with clients, lessors and suppliers, and similar rights that gen-
erate financial earnings are capitalized and amortized on straight-line basis over the contractual or 
estimated useful life of usually 5 years. For the Service Providing business segment, customer ac-
quisition costs for fixed-line and Internet customers is capitalized and depreciated on straight-line 
basis over a maximum term of 24 months.

The item «software» essentially includes the system and operating software. Software is valued at 
the acquisition cost minus operationally necessary amortizations and impairments. The amortiza-
tions are recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the software’s useful life, 
which is 2 to 10 years.

Impairment of assets
Assets are tested annually for impairment on the balance sheet date when due to events and in-
dications an overvaluation of the book values appears possible. Losses due to impairment are 
recognized in the income statement when an asset’s book value is higher than its recoverable 
value. The recoverable value is defined as the higher of the net market value and utility value. If 
the factors on which the determination of the recoverable value was based have improved  con-
siderably, a value impairment stated in a previous reporting period will be reversed in the income 
statement, either in part or in full, and included in the income statement.

Goodwill
Goodwill refers to the difference between purchase price and the actual value of the acquired net 
asset; it arises in the acquisition of subsidiaries. Goodwill is offset against shareholders’ equity 
(profit reserve) at the time of acquisition. When a subsidiary is sold, acquired goodwill that had at 
an earlier time been offset against shareholders’ equity is taken into account at historical cost to 
determine the profit or loss affecting net income. The effect of a theoretical capitalization of good-
will with scheduled amortization, as well as possible value adjustments to the statement of finan-
cial position, and the income statement over a useful life of 5 years is shown in the Notes.
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Inventories
Inventories are stated at cost or net realizable value, whichever is lower. The cost of inventories is 
calculated using the weighted average cost method. Goods with longer storage periods are subject 
to appropriate value adjustments. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less selling expenses. The price of a mobile phone is determined based on 
whether the product is sold on a stand-alone basis or in conjunction with a provider subscription. 
Net realizable value therefore takes into account both components. In addition, price protection 
arrangements with suppliers are also taken into account in determining the need for any value ad-
justments on inventories. Discount deductions are treated as reductions in the cost of goods.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, current credit bank balances, and current de-
posits with original maturity of less than 3 months. Cash and cash equivalents are treated as af-
fecting net income and are stated at fair market value.

Treasury shares
If treasury shares are bought back, the share-based payments, including directly related costs, are 
stated as deductions in the shareholders’ equity. Any profits and losses from transactions with 
treasury shares are offset against shareholders’ equity.

Dividends
Dividends are recognized as a liability in the reporting period in which their distribution is decided.

Current financial liabilities
Current financial liabilities include trade and other current accounts payable and are stated at 
depreciated historical cost.

Provisions for liabilities and contingencies
Provisions are set aside for current or future legal or de-facto obligations when, on the balance sheet 
date, as a result of past events, reasonable estimates regarding the future transfer of economic val-
ues are possible and when such a transfer is likely. The provisions are determined based on the best 
possible estimate of the expected expenditures.

Contingent liabilities are stated in the Notes if a future obligation is possible or if a present obliga-
tion exists, but an outflow of funds is not probable or the amount cannot be reliably determined.

Operative leasing and financial leasing
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. Revenue-based and other contingent leases are accrued on an 
estimated basis. Per December 31, 2018 and as of December 31, 2017, there were no financial 
leasing contracts.

Pension benefits
The mobilezone Group has defined-contribution pension plans. Each of the Swiss subsidiaries is 
affiliated with a collective foundation, a multi-employer plan, with full value insurance. The mo-
bilezone Group is not obligated to cover a possible plan deficit. These pension benefit plans are 
financed with contributions from employees and employer. The foreign pension benefit plans are 
of secondary importance.



51

Revenues
Net sales include all revenues from the sale of goods and services, less reductions in earnings, 
rebates, discounts, and VAT. Revenues from the sale of goods are included in the income state-
ment when the significant risks and rights of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. One-
time commissions from providers are recognized upon conclusion of the contract. Recurring «air-
time» profit-sharing commissions from providers are based on the subscribers’ monthly payments 
of mobile telephone bills to the providers. These amounts are recorded in the income statement 
based on the providers’ invoices on an accrual basis. Service revenues are recognized in the peri-
od in which the services were rendered.

Income tax
Current income taxes are calculated based on the taxable income of the year and are recorded in 
the income statement. Deferred income taxes are calculated using the balance sheet liability  
method on any temporary differences arising from divergences between the book value of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the value used for tax purposes. Deferred tax is 
calculated using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted on the balance sheet date and will be 
offset in future tax periods. Deferred tax loss carryforwards and deferred income tax credits are 
activated only to the extent that it is probable that they will be realized in the future.
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2.  Type and scope of financial risks
2.1 Financial risk management
The financial instruments of mobilezone Group predominantly include cash and cash equivalents 
to provide sufficient funds for the business activities of the Group companies. The Group has 
various other financial instruments, such as trade accounts payable and receivable resulting di-
rectly from business activities, at its disposal. The main risks arising from these financial instru-
ments include liquidity risk and risk of loss of receivables. In terms of other financial assets, such 
as securities and other receivables, the maximum financial risk in the event of a failure of the 
counterparty corresponds to the book value of these instruments. 

2.2 Foreign currency risk
For the most part, sales in the Trade segment are denominated in the companies’ local currencies 
(Swiss franc and euro). The currency volatilities of the euro do not significantly impact the operat-
ing profits of mobilezone. Given the short-term nature of payments in euro (7–14 days) and the 
high inventory turnover, as well as mobilezone’s currency congruent wholesale purchasing and 
selling of goods, the company generally does not hedge against currency risks on purchases. 
Only a few forward exchange transactions with short maturity took place in the reporting year. 
Any contracts open at the balance sheet date are valued at fair market value with any changes in 
fair market value fully recognised in the income statement. No forward exchange transactions 
were open as of December 31, 2018, or December 31, 2017.

2.3 Credit risk / Risk of loss of receivables
The Group is exposed to credit risks arising from its ordinary business activity. mobilezone’s cred-
it risk arises primarily from trade accounts receivable and bank deposits. A considerable portion 
of the sales in the Trade segment consists of cash transactions or is covered by insurance. There-
fore, this business activity results in relatively few outstanding accounts receivable compared to 
total sales. The company meets the risk of outstanding accounts receivable by negotiating short 
payment terms. To counteract the significantly higher risk of loss of receivables in the Service 
Providing segment, mobilezone Group employs predetermined hedging strategies, such as cred-
it reports. Further minimization of risk is achieved by limiting and controlling the volume of out-
standing receivables. Current bank credit balances and deposits are held at financial institutions. 
The risk of default is minimized by maintaining business relationships with several financial insti-
tutions and by continuously monitoring the credit risk.

2.4 Interest rate risk
Changes in interest rates can have negative effects on the Group’s asset and income situation and 
can lead to changes in interest income and interest expenses. The risks regarding interest changes 
for the financial liabilities are limited, however, since the interest rates for most of the financial  
liabilities are fixed rates.

2.5 Liquidity risk
Currently, mobilezone Group bears no foreseeable liquidity risk as its financial position features 
a sufficient amount of cash and its credit lines of CHF 174  million  (2017: CHF 192 million) are 
sufficient to cover peak demands on net current assets. As of December 31, 2018, CHF 5.7 million  
(2017: CHF 33.6 million) of the credit line amount remain unused. 

2.6 Investment control
The primary objective of mobilezone Group’s investment control is to ensure that the Group main-
tains a high credit rating and an advantageous proportion of shareholders’ equity in order to 
support its business activities. Capital includes the shareholder’s equity items capital stock, trea-
sury shares, capital reserves, and retained earnings. The Group may adjust dividend distributions 
to shareholders, issue new shares, buyback shares, or borrow capital for adjusting or maintaining 
its capital structure. No such changes were made to the objectives and guidelines as of December 
31, 2018, or December 31, 2017.
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Net sales (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Sales mobile communication products 747 578 825 715
One-time commissions and recurring «airtime»
profit sharing of providers 363 764 253 252

Revenue from fixed-net subscriptions, repairs, services 84 257 92 611
Total net sales 1 195 599 1 171 578

Personnel costs (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Wages and salaries 55 852 52 240
Social security costs 6 297 5 655
Pension costs 1 217 1 324
Other personnel costs 999 664
Total personnel costs 64 365 59 883

Number of full-time employees as of December 31 930 867

Other operating costs (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Operating lease costs 11 399 11 191
Advertising 9 688 11 007
Repair & maintenance, general & administrative costs 19 683 16 085
less: contributions received from third parties –5 778 –3 878
Total other operating costs 34 992 34 405

Financial income (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Income from interest 76 208
Sale of financial assets 850 0
Other financial income 46 28
Total Financial income 972 236

Financial expense (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Interest expense 2 933 2 519
Equity valuation financial position 13 0
Total Financial expense 2 946 2 519

 1

 2

 3

 4

      5

Notes to the consolidated income statement
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Income tax expense (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Income tax expense 7 709 11 736
Deferred income taxes 3 321 878
Total income tax 11 030 12 614

Current income taxes are based solely on the profit in the reporting year. Deferred income taxes are 
based on changes in temporary differences and the recognition of future tax loss carryforwards.

Income tax reconciliation (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Profit before taxes 50 561 47 840
Average applicable tax rate 23.11% 22.25%
Expected tax expense 11 685 10 645
Tax effect from application of different income tax rates 271 523
Tax effect from income tax relating to other periods –926 1 446
Effective income tax expense  11 030 12 614
 
The average tax rate is the weighted average of the tax rates of the individual Group companies and 
may therefore vary annually.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Inventories 1 583 1 919
Trade accounts receivable 1 112 876
Accrued liabilities 92 100
Total deferred tax liabilities 2 787  2 895

Accrued liabilities 67 53
Financial assets 4 0
Capitalized loss carried forward 1 271 0
Total deferred tax assets 1 342 53

Deferred tax liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are applicable to the respective compa-
nies. These range from 14 to 31 percent. As in the previous year, no income tax was recognized  
directly in the shareholders’ equity.

 6
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Property, plant & equipment (CHF 000)
Shop  

equipment 
Other property,

plant & equipment
Total

Acquisition costs
As of 31.12.2016 35 147 23 593 58 740
 Additions 2 702 1 525 4 227
 Reclassification1 58 –11 061 –11 003
 Disposals –1 002 –238 –1 240
 Foreign exchange impact 3 200 203
As of 31.12.2017 36 908 14 019 50 927
 Additions 2 325 2 821 5  146
 Change in the scope of consolidation 0 214 214
 Reclassification1 0 0 0
 Disposals –7 804 –7 800 –15 604
 Foreign exchange impact –2 –88 –90
As of 31.12.2018 31 427 9 166 40  593

Accumulated depreciation
As of 31.12.2016 29 281 15 180 44 461
 Additions 1 964 1 115 3 079
 Reclassification1 58 –5 005 –4 947
 Disposals –991 –166 –1 157
 Foreign exchange impact 1 102 103
As of 31.12.2017 30 313 11 226 41 539
 Additions 2 249 1 317 3 566
 Reclassification1

 Disposals –7 735 –7 693 –15 428
 Foreign exchange impact –2 –49 –51
As of 31.12.2018 24 825 4 801 29 626

Book value
As of 31.12.2017 6 595 2 793 9 388
As of 31.12.2018 6 602 4 365 10 967

1  Effective January 1, 2017, software was reclassified because of its materiality from «Other property, plant & equipment» to  
«Intangible assets» (software).

 7
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Intangible assets (CHF 000)
Software Customer

acquisition costs
Acquired shop

location Total

Acquisition costs

As of am 31.12.2016 0 18 778 6 042 24 820
 Additions 5 444 1 276 0 6 720
 Reclassification1 11 128 –67 0 11 061
 Disposals –1 596 –4 121 –1 232 –6 949
 Foreign exchange impact 63 0 0 63
As of 31.12.2017 15 039 15 866 4 810 35 715
 Additions  4 341 933 0 5 274
 Change in the scope of consolidation 60 0 0 60
 Reclassification1 0 0 0 0
 Disposals –1 135 –10 110 –709 –11 954
 Foreign exchange impact –51 0 –1 –52
As of 31.12.2018 18 254 6 689 4 100 29 043

Accumulated depreciation
As of 31.12.2016 0 18 023 5 628 23 651
 Additions  1 217 1 392 143 2 752
 Reclassification1 5 072 –67 0 5 005
 Disposals –1 596 –4 121 –1 232 –6 949
 Foreign exchange impact 25 1 0 26
As of 31.12.2017 4 718 15 228 4 539 24 485
 Additions  1 050 1 017 128 2 195
 Reclassification1 0 0 0 0
 Disposals –1 133 –10 110 –709 –11 952
 Foreign exchange impact –21 –1 –1 –23
As of 31.12.2018 4 614 6 134 3 957 14 705

Book value
am 31.12.2017 10 321 638 271 11 230
am 31.12.2018 13 640 555 143 14 338
1  Effective January 1, 2017, software was reclassified because of its materiality from «Other property, plant & equipment”  
to “Intangible assets» (software).

 8
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Acquisitions
On January 25, 2018, the company TPHcom GmbH, Obertshausen, was acquired. The takeover 
balance sheet pursuant to Swiss GAAP FER is as follows:

(CHF 000)
Cash and cash equivalents 16 307
Trade accounts receivable 32 118
Other receivables 387
Inventories 935
Property, plant and equipment 214
Intangible assets 59
Deferred tax assets 4 810
Total assets 54 830
Trade accounts payable 21 353
Advance payments 29 520
Other liabilities 12 515
Total liabilities 63 388

Net assets –8 558

Purchase price 58 370
Acquired cash and cash equivalents –16 307
Net cash outflow 42 063

Purchase price 58 370
Net assets 8 558
Goodwill 66 928

At the end of March 2015, the companies einsAmobile GmbH and einsAmobile Management 
GmbH, Obertshausen, Germany, were acquired. On the basis of Swiss GAAP FER, the acquisition 
balance sheet is presented as follows:

(CHF 000)
Cash & cash equivalents 8 973
Trade accounts receivable 20 875
Other accounts receivable 5 158
Inventories 10 823
Accruals 316
Property, plant & equipment 552
Other assets 109
Total assets 46 806
Bank loans 6 335
Trade accounts payable 11 093
Other accounts payable 9 124
Deferrals 1 757
Total liabilities 28 309

Net assets 18 497

Purchase price 73 122
Earn-out liability –24 370
Acquired cash & cash equivalents –8 973
Net outflow of funds 39 779

Development of purchasing price/Goodwill
Purchasing price March 27, 2015 69 847
Earn-out increase 2015 3 275
Purchasing price December 31, 2015 73 122
Earn-out increase 2016 7 784
Purchasing price December 31, 2016 80 906
Earn-out increase 2017 5 163
Purchasing price December 31, 2017 86 069
Net assets –18 497
Goodwill December 31, 2017 67 572

 9 
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Trade accounts receivable (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Accounts receivable, gross 120 026 70 740
Value adjustments –2 638 –2 567
Total trade accounts receivable 117 388 68 173

Trade accounts receivable do not bear interest and are usually payable within 30 days.

Value adjustments (CHF 000) 2018 2017
As of January 1 2 567 1 828
Additions from acquisitions 452 1 148
Usage 50 –486
Dissolutions –352 –62
Currency differences –79 139
As of December 31 2 638 2 567

Other accounts receivable (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Other accounts receivable 2 637 3 804
Other accounts receivable – VAT 1 887 1 783
Other accounts receivable – income tax 1 507 980
Other accounts receivable nonconsolidated holdings 2 532 0
Other accounts receivable from non-consolidated holdings 0 2 607
Total other accounts receivable 8 563 9 174

Accruals (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Accruals from unbilled receivables 28 066 29 046
Other accruals 10 865 6 680
Total accruals 38 931 35 726

The other accruals comprise primarily reductions in the cost of goods.

 12
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Other assets (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Other assets 411 427
Total other assets 411 427
 
The other assets include deposits and shares in other companies, which are recognised at  
acquisition value minus any value adjustments.

Inventories (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Inventories, gross 83 014 81 057
less value adjustments –273 –466
Total inventories 82 741 80 591

 10

 11
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Share capital 
The share capital consists of 40,781,213 (2017: 32,195,697) registered shares at a par value of CHF 
0.01 each.

Change in number of
treasury shares

Number of
shares

Maximum
in CHF

Price in
CHF average

Minimum
in CHF

Total  
(CHF 000)

As of January 1, 2017 0 0
Purchases at cost prices 102 500 14.55 12.74 11.86 1 306
Disposals at sales prices –42 500 15.30 13.99 13.00 –595
Income from stock price 24
As of December 31, 2017 60 000 735

Purchases at cost prices 208 000  11.73 11.24 9.62 2 337
Disposals at sales prices –168 000 12.10 11.80 11.20 –1 983
Income from stock price –4
As of December 31, 2018 100 000 1 084

In the reporting year sales of treasury shares resulted in a loss of CHF 4,000 (2017: profit of CHF 
24,000). 

At the extraordinary General Meeting of mobilezone holding ag on March 9, 2018, the sharehold-
ers agreed to a capital increase in the amount of CHF 85,855.16 through issuing 8,585,516 regis-
tered shares with a par value of CHF 0.01. The capital increase was effected by means of a rights 
issue. Existing shareholders received a subscription right for each registered share they held as of 
March 14, 2018, after the close of markets. Fifteen subscription rights granted the owner the right 
to subscribe for 4 new registered shares. The subscription price was CHF 9.50. The proceeds from 
the capital increase amounted to CHF 81.6 million minus transaction costs in the amount of CHF 
2.6 million.

On December 29, 2017, the Board of Directors adopted a long-term incentive program (LTI) for the  
management. A distribution in the amount of 380,000 options took place on June 29, 2018. The options 
have a term of 7 years with a vesting period of 3 years; they were distributed with an exercise price of 
CHF 12.19 per share above market price. The long-term incentive program is an equity instrument 
(equity-settled plan). 

Calculation of earnings per share 2018 2017
Net profit CHF 39 531 000 35 226 000
Shares outstanding Pieces 40 781 213 32 195 697
Weighted average number of shares outstanding Pieces 38 664 992 32 163 959
Earnings per share CHF 1.02 1.10
Earnings per share – diluted CHF 1.02  1.10

In April 2018, a dividend of CHF 0.60 per share (2017: CHF 0.60) was paid to the shareholders.

In the reporting year there was no dilution of the earnings per share.

Trade accounts payable 2018 2017

Trade accounts payable                                                                                               132 362 93 759

Trade accounts payable toward non-consolidated affiliates                                763 0

Total trade accounts payable                                                                                   133 125              93 759

 
Deferral (CHF 000) 2018 2017
 Sales of goods 3 480 4 842
 Cost of goods and materials 7 458 4 075
 Personnel costs 2 949 3 082
 Other 2 753 1 056
Total deferral 16 640 13 055

 15
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Financial liabilities (CHF 000) 2018 2017
 Short-term bank loans 28 432 137 598
 Long-term bank loans 140 118 20 480
Total bank liabilities 168 550 158 078

The interest rates for loans with fixed rates are between 1.35 percent and 1.85 percent. 
It exists bank credits line of CHF 174 millions (2017: CHF 192 millions).

Remaining time to maturity (CHF 000) 2018 2017
 Up to 1 Year 28 432 137 598
 Between 1 and 5 years 140 118 20 480
Total bank liabilities 168 550 158 078

Goodwill treatment

Goodwill has been offset against retained earnings at the time of acquisition. The resulting 
effects on shareholders’ equity and on profit or loss are documented below based on the as-
sumption of a useful life of goodwill of 5 years.

Effect of a theoretical capitalization of goodwill on the statement of financial position:

Statement of financial position (CHF 000) 2018 2017

Stated shareholders’ equity 34 382 8 977
Equity ratio 9.4% 3.0%

Acquisition value goodwill
At the beginning of the fiscal year 104 889 99 726
 Additions 66 928 5 163
 Disposals 0 0
At the end of the fiscal years 171 817 104 889

Accumulated amortization
At the beginning of the fiscal year 67 090 49 971
 Amortization current year 27 917 17 119
 Disposals 0 0
At the end of the fiscal year 95 007 67 090

Theoretical net book value goodwill 76 810 37 799

Theoretical shareholders’ equity without offsetting of goodwill 111 192 46 776
Theoretical equity ratio 25.1% 13.7%

Effect of a theoretical amortization of goodwill on results:

Income statement (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Income statement 39 531 35 226
Theoretical amortization of goodwill –27 917 –17 119
Net profit after amortization of goodwill 11 614 18 107
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Other current liabilities (CHF 000) 2018 2017
 VAT 4 435 6 534
 Social security costs 747 561
 Earn-out payable 0 11 690
 Other 1 267 1 838
Total other current liabilities 6 449 20 623
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Operative leasing
As of December 31, 2018, mobilezone Group operated in 119 shops (2017: 124) all across Switzer-
land, all of which were leased. Leases typically have a fixed term of 5 years, with an option to renew 
for several years.

As of the balance sheet date, future payments for shops and other long-term contracts with fixed 
term are coming due as follows:

2018 (CHF 000) Premises Other Total
Less than 1 year 10 512 901 11 413
Between 1 and 5 years 21 596 1 263 22 859
More than 5 years 2 508 0 2 508
Total 34 616 2 164 36 780

2017 (CHF 000) Premises Other Total
Less than 1 year 9 646 788 10 434
Between 1 and 5 years 20 259 450 20 709
More than 5 years 2 870 0 2 870
Total 32 775 1 238 34 013

In the reporting year 2018 the amount of CHF 11,399,000 (2017: CHF 11,191,000) was recognized 
as an expense from operating leases in the income statement. 

Contingent liabilities and future commitments, capital commitments, and restrictions of  
ownership
Per December 31, 2018, trade accounts receivable in the amount of CHF 53,084,000  
(2017: CHF 46,244,000) and inventories in the amount of CHF 58,222,000 (2017: CHF 52,611,000) 
are pledged for credit lines at banks.

There are no further items requiring disclosure.

Risk assessment 
As the parent company of the mobilezone Group companies, mobilezone holding ag is deeply 
involved in the risk assessment process across all Group companies. The risk assessment process 
is integrated into the Group’s annual strategy process. The aim is not to avoid all risk but rather to 
create options that are intended to help the Group companies to consistently take advantage of 
existing opportunities and to increase their business success. Risk management supports the 
companies in reaching their business goals by providing transparency regarding the risk situa-
tion (as a basis for strategic and operating decisions), by recognizing potential threats to the 
Group’s net assets, financial position and profit situation, and by taking measures to limit risks to 
an acceptable level.

In connection with this risk assessment process, the Board of Directors of mobilezone holding ag is 
kept informed about any observed risks and opportunities.
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Relationship with related parties and companies
Related parties and companies are organizations in which mobilezone participates significantly 
as well as members of the Board of Directors, Group Management, their close relatives, and key 
shareholders, including companies controlled by them. All transactions in the total amount are 
conducted at market values.

Andreas M. Blaser has been a member of the Board of Directors since April 7, 2016. He is also a 
member of the Board of Directors of the management consulting firm Blaser Meewes & Partner 
AG, which is involved in mobilezone’s current Omnichannel project.

Since the acquisition of einsAmobile Management GmbH at the end of March 2015, the company 
Mister Mobile GmbH is part of the mobilezone Group. einsAmobile Management GmbH holds 
45 percent of the voting and capital shares of Mister Mobile GmbH.

Murat Ayhan and Akin Erdem, both members of the Group management, are the owners of 
DeinHandy GmbH, from which einsAmobile Management GmbH acquired 100 percent of the 
shares in TPHCom GmbH on January 25, 2018, at a purchase price of EUR 50 million.

Transactions and balances with related
parties and companies (CHF 000)

2018 2017

Sales of goods  3 747 52 828
Cost of goods and materials 7 683 26 556
Cost of services 1 221 3 311
Financial income 76 69
Accounts receivable 5 168 10 132
Accounts payable 852 2 824

Significant shareholders
The shares in mobilezone ag are broadly distributed. Significant shareholders are listed in the 
annual financial statements on page 73.

Compensation to Members of the Board of Directors and the Group Management
Further details of the compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors and of the Group 
management can be found on pages 31 to 38 of the  compensation report. 

Legal risks
As a result of the ordinary course of their business, some group companies are involved in legal 
disputes. The management has estimated the outcome of these legal cases based on the infor-
mation currently available and has made corresponding provisions as of December 31, 2018 
(2017: none). However, there are inherent risks in connecdtion with legal claims, depending on 
the conduct and perspective of the competent court and the counterparty, that can result in a 
significant outflow of economic resources. 

Events following the balance sheet date
No significant events have occurred after the balance sheet date.

On March 4, 2019, the Board of Directors of mobilezone holding ag released these financial 
statements for publication. The Board of Directors will submit these financial statements to the 
General Meeting on April 4, 2019, and propose that they be approved.
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January 1 to December 31 (CHF 000) 2018 2017

Dividend income 24 046 18 028
Other financial income 4 716 2 948
Other operating income 4 972 2 521
Total income 33 734 23 497

Financial expenses 2 040 1 787
Personnel costs 2 211 2 227
Other operating costs 382 297
Depreciation property, plant & equipment 55 21
Income tax expense 529 143
Total expenses 5 217 4 475

Net profit 28 517 19 022

Income statement

Financial statements mobilezone holding ag
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As of December 31 (CHF 000) Notes 2018 2017

Assets

Current assets
Cash & cash equivalents 8 262 12 221
Other current accounts receivable 6 101 066 75 666
Accruals 7 432 513
Total current assets 109 760 88 400

Fixed assets
Financial assets 8 99 107 43 863
Investments 9 39 817 39 817
Property, plant & equipment 100 82
Total fixed assets 139 024 83 762

Total Assets 248 784 172 162

Liabilities & shareholders’ equity

Current liabilities
Current interest-bearing liabilities 10 2 856 91 666
Other current liabilities 11 717 248 
Deferral 12 2 695 6 065
Total current liabilities  6 268 97 979

Long-term liabilities
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 13 106 000 20 480
Total long-term liabilities 106 000 20 480

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 14 408 322
Legally required profit reserve
– Reserves from capital contributions 78 951 0
– Other capital reserve 131 131
Voluntary profit reserve 6 098 6 098
Own capital shares 15 –1 084 –735
Available earnings 52 012 47 887
Total shareholders’ equity 136 516 53 703

Total liabilities & shareholders’ equity 248 784 172 162

Balance sheet

Financial statements mobilezone holding ag
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Notes to the financial statements

Principles
General
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Swiss ac-
counting legislation (Title 32 of the Swiss Code of Obligations). A description of the essential val-
uation principles that were applied but are not prescribed by law follows below.

Financial assets
The financial assets include long-term loans. Loans granted in foreign currency are valued at the 
exchange rate on the effective date.

Investments
Investments are capitalized at cost minus any necessary value adjustments. Investments that are 
significant are valued individually, but those that are similar in nature are usually valued together 
as a group.

Own capital shares
Treasury shares are recognised at acquisition costs as a debit item in shareholders’ equity at the 
time of acquisition. Upon resale, the gain or loss will be recognised in the income statement as 
financial income or expense.

Dispensing with a cash flow statement and additional information in the Notes
Since mobilezone holding ag prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with a
recognised accounting standard (Swiss GAAP FER), the company has decided, in accordance
with the pertinent legal provisions, to dispense in these financial statements with the information
in the Notes regarding interest-bearing liabilities and auditing fees as well with a cash flow
statement. 
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Details regarding the financial statements
Other current accounts receivable from (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Group companies 101 029 75 288
Third parties 37 378
Total 101 066 75 666

Accruals (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Third parties 432 513
Total 432 513

Financial assets
The financial assets include a long-term loan to a Group company. 

Direct and indirect holdings investments
Company Corporate

headquarters
Currency Equity

capital  
(000)  

Capital /
voting share 

31/12/18

Capital /
voting share 

31/12/17
mobilezone ag CH-Rotkreuz CHF 2 850 100% 100%
mobilezone business ag¹ CH-Urnäsch CHF 100 n.a. 100%
einsAmobile GmbH D-Obertshausen EUR 50 100% 100%
einsAmobile Management GmbH D-Heusenstamm EUR 25 100% 100%
TPHCom GmbH² D-Heusenstamm EUR 25 100% n.a.
Mister Mobile GmbH³ D-Obertshausen EUR 25 45% 75%
TalkTalk AG CH-Rotkreuz CHF 100 100% 100%
mobiletouch ag CH-Zweidlen CHF 100 100% 100%
mobiletouch austria gmbH A-Wien EUR 35 100% 100%

¹ Effective January 1, 2018, mobilezone business ag merged with mobilezone ag.
² TPHCom GmbH was acquired on January 25, 2018.
³ On November 14, 2018, 30 percent of the shares in Mister Mobile GmbH were sold.

Current interest- bearing liabilities (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Group companies 2 856 10 746
Banks 0 80 920
Total 2 856 91 666
 
The current interest-bearing liabilities to Group companies include current accounts.

Current accounts payable to (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Group companies 57 18
Third parties 660 230
Total 717 248

Deferrals (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Group companies 0 3
Organs 440 295
Third parties 2 256 5 767
Total 2 696 6 065
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Long-term interest-bearing liabilities
The long-term loans are bank loans.

Share capital and authorized capital
The share capital consists of 40,781,213 registered shares (2016: 32,195,697 registered shares) at a 
par value of CHF 0.01 each. As of the balance sheet date, there was no authorized share capital and 
no conditional share capital.

Own equity shares

Change in number of
treasury shares

Number of
shares

Maximum
in CHF

Price in
CHF average

Minimum
in CHF

Total  
(CHF 000)

As of January 1, 2017 0 0
Purchases at cost prices 102 500 14.55 12.74 11.86 1 306
Disposals at sales prices –42 500 15.30 13.99 13.00 –595
Income from stock price 24
As of December 31, 2017 60 000 735

Purchases at cost prices 208 000 11.73 11.24 9.62 2 337
Disposals at sales prices –168 000 12.10 11.80 11.20 –1 983
Income from stock price –4
As of December 31, 2018 100 000 1 084
 
In the reporting year sales of treasury shares resulted in a loss of CHF 4,000 (2017: profit of CHF 
24,000).

Significant shareholders

According to our share register, on December 31, the following significant shareholders and share-
holder groups held more than 3 percent of capital shares and voting rights:

Company 2018 2017
Credit Suisse Funds AG, Zürich 9.89% 10.06%
UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG, Basel 5.40% 5.40%
BlackRock, Inc., New York n.a. 3.32%
LB (Swiss) Investment AG, Zürich n.a. 3.01%

The disclosures regarding shareholdings in mobilezone holding ag are published on the elec-
tronic platform of the SIX Swiss Exchange and can be retrieved via the Disclosure Office’s 
search screen at the following web link: www.six-exchange-regulation.com/en/home/publica-
tions/significant-shareholders.html.

To our knowledge there is no shareholder’s agreement between the significant shareholders.
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Additional information
Number of full-time employees
In the reporting year, the average number of full-time employees was 3 (2017: 3).

Contingent liabilities (CHF 000) 2018 2017
Joint and several liability from VAT – Group taxation p.m. p.m.
Surety for a subsidiary 3 300 000 n.a.

Shareholdings of the Board of Directors and the Group Management

Name Position Number of shares Share value (CHF 000)
2018 2017 2018 2017

Urs T. Fischer Chairman 2 500 1 000 27 13
Andreas M. Blaser Member 0 0 0 0
Christian Petit¹ Member 0 n.a. 0 n.a.
Gabriela Theus¹ Member 0 n.a. 0 n.a.
Cyrill Schneuwly² Member n.a. 2000 n.a. 26
Markus Bernhard CEO 100 000  67 500 1 094 867
Andreas Fecker CFO 40 000 24 146 438 310
Murat Ayhan Managing Director DE 300 000 235 756 3 282 3 029
Akin Erdem Managing Director DE 300 000 235 756 3 282 3 029
Roger Wassmer COO CH & AT 5 504 0 60 0

¹ At the General Meeting on April 5, 2018, Christian Petit and Gabriela Theus were elected to the Board of Directors.
² At the annual General Meeting on April 5, 2018, Cyrill Schneuwly did not stand for reelection.
 

Additional information regarding the compensation is provided on page 34 to 36.

Significant events following the balance sheet date
No other significant events have occurred after the balance sheet date.
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The proposal of the Board of Directors of mobilezone holding ag to the General Meeting to be 
held on April 4, 2019, is to dispose of the available earnings 2018 as follows:

Appropriation of available earnings (CHF 000) 2018 2017

Balance brought forward 23 495 28 865
Net profit 28 517 19 022
Available earnings at the disposal of the General Meeting 52 012 47 887

Distribution of a dividend of CHF 0.60 per bearer share  
entitled to dividends 0 24 469

Undistributed dividends on treasury shares held by the Group 0 –77

To be carried forward 52 012 23 495
Total 52 012 47 887

Appropriation of reserves from capital contributions 
Reserves from capital contributions carried forward  
from pervious year 0 0

Allocation of capital increase 78 951 0

Distribution of a dividend free of withholding tax in the  
amount of CHF 0.60 per dividend-bearing share. –24 469 0

Reserves from capital contributions carried forward  
to new account 54 482 0

If the proposal is accepted, the dividend of CHF 0.60 per share will be paid free of withholding tax 
out of the reserves from capital contributions on April 11, 2019. The last trading day with entitlement 
to receive the dividend is April 8, 2019. Starting on April 9, 2019, the shares will be traded ex divi-
dend. 

Proposal by the Board of Directors
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Companies 
MOBILEZONE HOLDING AG Suurstoffi 22, 6343 Rotkreuz, Telefon: +41 (0)58 400 24 24, E-Mail: mobilezoneholding@ 
mobilezone.ch, www.mobilezone.ch, Investor Relations: Markus Bernhard, Media  Relations: Markus Bernhard MOBILEZONE AG 
Suurstoffi 22, 6343 Rotkreuz, Telefon: +41 (0)58 400 24 24, E-Mail: info@mobilezone.ch, www.mobilezone.ch TALKTALK AG Suur-
stoffi 22, 6343 Rotkreuz, Telefon: +41 (0)58 560 69 02, E-Mail: info@talktalk.ch, www.talktalk.ch MOBILEZONE BUSINESS AG Bahn-
weg 4, 9107 Urnäsch, Telefon: +41 (0)71 421 46 80, E-Mail: business@mobilezone.ch, www.mobilezone.ch/b2b MOBILETOUCH 
AG Riverside, 8192 Zweidlen, Telefon: +41 (0)840 303 303, E-Mail: info@mobiletouch.ch, www.mobiletouch.ch MOBILETOUCH 
AUSTRIA GMBH Lemböckgasse 49, A-1230 Wien, Telefon: +43 (0)1 866 49 0, E-Mail: office@mobiletouch.at, www.mobile-
touch.at EINSAMOBILE GMBH Samerwiesen 6, D-63179 Obertshausen, Telefon +49 6104 405 70, E-Mail: kontakt@einsamo-
bile.de, www.einsamobile.de EINSAMOBILE MANAGEMENT GMBH Jahnstrasse 64, D-63150 Heusenstsamm, Telefon +49 6104 
405 70,E-Mail:kontakt@einsamobile.de, www.einsamobile.de MISTER MOBILE GMBH Torstrasse 49, D-10119 Berlin, Telefon 
+49 30 223 865 18,E-Mail:info@deinhandy.de, www.deinhandy.de TPHCOM GMBH Bergiusstrasse 1A, D-48165 Münster, Telefon 
+49 2501 9184 891,E-Mail: info@tphcom.de, www.tphcom.de
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